K-stability of Log Fano Cone Singularities

by

Kai Huang

Submitted to the Department of Mathematics in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics

at the

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

June 2022

© Massachusetts Institute of Technology 2022. All rights reserved.

Certified by

Chenyang Xu Professor of Mathematics Thesis Supervisor

Accepted by Wei Zhang

Chairman, Department Committee on Graduate Theses

K-stability of Log Fano Cone Singularities

by

Kai Huang

Submitted to the Department of Mathematics on May 4, 2022, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics

Abstract

In this thesis, we define the δ -invariant for log Fano cone singularities, and show that the necessary and sufficient condition for K-semistability is $\delta \geq 1$. This generalizes the result of [Li17] and [Fuj19]. We also prove that on any log Fano cone singularity of dimension n whose δ -invariant is less than $\frac{n+1}{n}$, any valuation computing δ has a finitely generated associated graded ring. This shows a log Fano cone is K-polystable if and only if it is uniformly K-stable. Together with earlier works, this implies the Yau-Tian-Donaldson Conjecture for Fano cone.

Thesis Supervisor: Chenyang Xu Title: Professor of Mathematics

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my advisor Chenyang Xu, for leading me to a beautiful world of mathematics as well as his support over my the past five years. He taught me many of the techniques and ideas that went into this thesis. I am grateful for his patience, guidance, and wisdom.

Chenyang has been very productive in the past few years together with Harold Blum, Chi Li, Yuchen Liu and Ziquan Zhuang. It is actually quite hard to follow their ideas before their new ideas come out. I am grateful to all of them for all kinds of discussions.

I would also like to thank the algebraic geometry community at MIT and elsewhere. I am indebted to Davesh Maulik and Zhiwei Yun for serving as my thesis committee. Throughout my time at MIT, I benefitted greatly from mathematical discussions with many people including (but not limited to) Guodu Chen, Jingjun Han, Chen Jiang, Jihao Liu, Lu Qi, Junliang Shen, Yueqiao Wu and Chuyu Zhou.

Finally, I wish to thank all my friends and family at Cambridge and in China, espcially my parents for their accompany and support through the days of pandemic. Their passion and enthusiasm about life encouraged me and kept me going.

Contents

Introduction		
Pre	liminaries	15
2.1	Log Fano Cone Singularity	15
2.2	Valuations and normalized volume	18
2.3	K-semistability of log Fano cone singularity	21
2.4	Filtrations	23
2.5	Complement	26
A v	aluative criterion for K-semistability	27
3.1	A general volume formula	27
3.2	Kollár components	32
3.3	The valuations w_{ϵ} and $wt_{\xi_{\epsilon}}$	34
3.4	Proof of the valuative criterion	35
Filt	rations and the Delta invariant	39
4.1	Okounkov bodies	39
4.2	Concave transform and limit measure	41
4.3	The Delta invariant via filtration	45
	Intr Prei 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 A v 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 Filt: 4.1 4.2 4.3	Introduction Preliminaries 2.1 Log Fano Cone Singularity

5	Valu	Valuations computing the stability threshold	
6	Fini	ite generation	53
	6.1	Special complement	53
	6.2	Estimate of alpha invariants	55
7	App	olications	65

Chapter 1

Introduction

Throughout this paper, we work over the field \mathbb{C} of complex numbers. The concept of K-stability was first introduced by Tian and later formulated algebraically by Donaldson, as a criterion to characterise the existence of Kähler-Einstein metrics on Fano manifolds. It was defined by looking at the generalized Futaki invariant of all possible normal \mathbb{C}^* -degenerations (called test configurations) of a Fano manifold X. Later, Fujita [Fuj19], Chi Li [Li17] and Blum-Jonsson [BJ17] developed a valuative criterion of K-(semi)stability, namely the δ -invariant. Liu-Xu-Zhuang [LXZ21] proved the higher rank finite generation Conjecture. Together with [BBJ18] and [LTW19], it implies the Yau-Tian-Donaldson Conjecture for general Fano variety.

Log Fano cone singularity A Riemannian manifold is called Sasakian if its Riemannian cone is Kähler. If, in addition, the cone is Ricci-flat, the manifold is called Sasakian-Einstein. Collins and Székelyhidi [CS19] introduced the K-(semi)stability of log Fano cone singularities to characterise the existence of Sasakian-Einstein metric on Fano cones. Later Li-Xu [LX18] gave a purely algebrogeometric definition.

Given a normal affine variety X and a torus $T = (\mathbb{C}^*)^r$ acting on X. We say the action is good if it is effective, and there is a unique closed point $x \in X$ lies in the orbit closure of any T- orbit. We shall call x to be the vertex point of X.

Let $N = \text{Hom}(\mathbb{C}^*, T)$ be the co-weight lattice and $M = N^*$ the weight lattice. We have a weight decomposition $R = \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Lambda} R_\alpha$ where $\Lambda = \{\alpha \in M \mid R_\alpha \neq 0\}$. We use $\sigma^{\vee} \subset M_{\mathbb{Q}}$ to denote the cone generated by Λ over \mathbb{Q} . The dual of σ^{\vee} is the *Reeb cone*

$$\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}^{+} = \{ \xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}} \mid \langle \alpha, \xi \rangle > 0 \text{ for any } 0 \neq \alpha \in \Lambda \}.$$

Definition 1.0.1. Let (X, D) be an affine klt pair with a good *T*-action. For a fixed $\xi_0 \in \mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}^+$, we call the triple (X, D, ξ_0) a klt singularity with a log Fano cone structure that is polarized by ξ_0 .

Following the Q-Fano case, we can also define the notion of (special) test configurations of log Fano cone singularities similarly. Given a test configuration $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \eta)$, the Futaki invariant is defined as Fut $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \eta) := (D_{-\eta} \widehat{\text{vol}})(\xi_0)$, here $\widehat{\text{vol}}(v)$ is the *normalized volume* of a valuation v (see chapter 2 for more details). Then we can define the K-(semi)stability of log Fano cone singularity similarly.

If ξ_0 is rational, i.e. ξ_0 generates a one dimensional torus, then quotient by $T = \langle \xi_0 \rangle$, we get a special test configuration $(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{E})$ of the log Fano pair $(Y, E) = ((X, D) - \{x\})/\langle \xi_0 \rangle$, and its Futaki invariant is just a rescaling of the Futaki invariant of $(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{E})$. Hence the definition here is a generalization of K-stability of Q-Fano variety (i.e. the rank 1 case).

Definition 1.0.2. Let (X, D, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity, the delta invariant (also called stability threshold) is defined as

$$\delta(X, D, \xi_0) = \inf_{v \in \operatorname{Val}_{X, x}^T} \frac{A_{(X, D)}(v)}{S_{(X, D)}(v)}$$

where $\operatorname{Val}_{X,x}^T$ is the set of all T-equivariant valuations centered at x with finite log discrepancy,

 $A_{(X,D)}(v)$ is the log discrepancy of v,

$$S_{(X,D)}(v) = \frac{A_{(X,D)}(\mathrm{wt}_{\xi_0})}{\mathrm{vol}(\xi_0)} \int_0^\infty \mathrm{vol}(\mathcal{F}_v R^{(t)}) dt$$

We also define the beta invariant for every valuation $v \in \operatorname{Val}_{X,x}^T$,

$$\beta(v) := \beta_{(X,D,\xi_0)}(v) := A_{(X,D)}(v) - S_{(X,D)}(v)$$

Here \mathcal{F}_v is a filtration on R induced by a T-equivariant valuation v, and $\operatorname{vol}(\mathcal{F}_v R^{(t)})$ comes naturally from the calculation of the volume. See Definition 2.4.3 and Proposition 3.1.3 for details.

Theorem 1.0.3. Let (X, D, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity, then it is K-semistable if and only if $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) \ge 1$, or equivalently $\beta(v) \ge 0$ for all $v \in \operatorname{Val}_{X,x}^T$.

When ξ_0 is rational, and $(Y, E) = ((X, D) - \{x\})/\langle \xi_0 \rangle$, the delta invariant we defined here is the same as the delta invariant defined in [Fuj19] and [BJ17]. Hence this is a generalization of the result in the log Fano case.

The idea is to consider two series of valuations on the (speical) test configuration $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0, \eta)$ of the log Fano cone (X, D, ξ_0) . A series of valuations $\mathrm{wt}_{\xi_{\epsilon}}$ on the central fiber \mathcal{X}_0 , and a series of valuations w_{ϵ} on the general fiber which is isomorphic to X. They have the same normalized volume $\widehat{\mathrm{vol}}(\mathrm{wt}_{\xi_{\epsilon}}) = \widehat{\mathrm{vol}}(w_{\epsilon})$.

On the central fiber \mathcal{X}_0 , we have $\frac{d}{d\epsilon}|_{\epsilon=0}\widehat{\operatorname{vol}}(\operatorname{wt}_{\xi_{\epsilon}}) = C_1 \cdot \operatorname{Fut}(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0)$. On X we have $\frac{d}{d\epsilon}|_{\epsilon=0}\widehat{\operatorname{vol}}(w_{\epsilon}) = C_2 \cdot \beta(E)$, where C_1, C_2 are positive constants. The S function in Definition 1.0.2 comes from computing $\frac{d}{dt}|_{\epsilon=0}\widehat{\operatorname{vol}}(w_{\epsilon})$. This explains why the delta invariant (or equivalently the beta invariant) could be used as a criterion for K-(semi)stability.

The Delta invariant via filtrations We present another approach to define the delta invariant in Chapter 4. That is to use the Okounkov body. Given a valuation $v \in \operatorname{Val}_{X,x}^T$, it induces a filtration on R by $\mathcal{F}^{\lambda}R_{\alpha} = \{f \in R_{\alpha} \mid v(f) \geq \lambda\}.$

For any *linearly bounded* filtration \mathcal{F} on R (see chapter 2.4), we can define the functions S_m and δ_m by looking at the *jumping numbers* of the filtration. More precisely, the jumping numbers are

$$0 \le a_{\alpha,1} \le \dots \le a_{\alpha,N_{\alpha}}$$

defined for $\alpha \in \Lambda$ by

$$a_{\alpha,j} = a_{\alpha,j}(\mathcal{F}) = \inf\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+ \mid \operatorname{codim} \mathcal{F}^\lambda R_\alpha \ge j\}$$

for $1 \leq j \leq N_{\alpha}$, where $N_{\alpha} = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} R_{\alpha}$. We define the rescaled sum of the jumping numbers:

$$S_{\alpha}(\mathcal{F}) := \frac{1}{\langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle N_{\alpha}} \sum_{j=1}^{N_{\alpha}} a_{\alpha,j}$$

We say an effective divisor B is an α -basis type divisor, if there exists a basis $s_1, \ldots, s_{N_{\alpha}}$ of R_{α} , such that

$$B = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N_{\alpha}} \{s_i = 0\}}{\langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle N_{\alpha}}$$

Then we define

 $\delta_{\alpha} = \inf\{ \operatorname{lct}(X, D; B) \mid B \text{ is an } \alpha \text{-basis type divisor } \}$

for any $\alpha \in \Lambda$, here lct(X, D; B) is the log-canonical threshold, see [CS08].

For any integer m, we define $R_m := \bigoplus_{m-1 < \langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle \le m} R_\alpha$, so $R = \bigoplus_{m=0}^{+\infty} R_m$. Write $N_\alpha := \dim_{\mathbb{C}} R_\alpha$, and $N_m := \dim_{\mathbb{C}} R_m$

Notice that our definition of R_m is different from the definition in [Wu21]. If ξ_0 is rational and that (X, D) is a cone over (Y, E), then up to rescaling of ξ_0 , R_m defined above equals to $H^0(Y, m(-K_Y - E))$. This matches with the definition of R_m in [BJ17] and [LX20]. For R_m we define the jumping numbers, $S_m(\mathcal{F})$, *m*-basis type divisor and δ_m similarly.

$$S_m(\mathcal{F}) := \frac{1}{mN_m} \sum_{j=1}^{N_m} a_{m,j}$$

for $\alpha \in \Lambda, m \in \mathbb{N}$, and

 $\delta_m = \inf\{ \operatorname{lct}(X, D; B) \mid B \text{ is an m-basis type divisor } \}.$

Finally we have

Theorem 1.0.4. The limit $\lim_{m\to\infty} \delta_m$ exists and equals to $\delta(X, D, \xi_0)$ we defined in Definition 1.0.2. Furthermore,

$$\delta(X, D, \xi_0) = \inf_v \frac{A_{X,D}(v)}{S_{X,D}(v)} = \inf_E \frac{A(\operatorname{ord}_E)}{S(\operatorname{ord}_E)}.$$

where E runs through all the T-invariant prime divisors over X.

Higher Rank Finite Generation Conjecture

Definition 1.0.5. A filtration \mathcal{F} on R gives the associated graded ring $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathcal{F}} R := \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Gamma} \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}} \operatorname{gr}_{\mathcal{F}}^{\lambda} R_{\alpha}$, where $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathcal{F}}^{\lambda} R_{\alpha} = \mathcal{F}^{\lambda} R_{\alpha} / \bigcup_{\lambda' > \lambda} \mathcal{F}^{\lambda'} R_{\alpha}$. We use \mathcal{F}_{v} to denote the filtration induced by a valuation v.

Theorem 1.0.6 (Higher Rank Finite Generation Conjecture). Let (X, D, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity of dimension $n, X = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$. Assume that $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) < \frac{n+1}{n}$. Then for any valuation v that computes $\delta(X, D, \xi_0)$, the associated graded ring $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathcal{F}_v} R$ is finitely generated.

We follow the idea in [LXZ21]. The key observation is that any valuation v computing $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) < \frac{n+1}{n}$, is an lc place of a \mathbb{Q} -complement Γ , and that complement satisfies some further technical conditions (see *special complement* in Definition 6.1.1). Moreover, any divisorial lc place

w of the complement induces a weakly special degeneration. If finite generation holds for a quasimonomial valuation v, then for any valuation w that lies in the minimal rational affine subspace of the dual complex $\mathcal{DMR}(X, D + \Gamma)$ containing v that are close enough to v, the central fibers of the induced degenerations would be isomorphic to each other, so they are bounded. A key fact is that the inverse is also true.

So we need to show that, given an *monomial lc place* of a special complement, there exists a neighborhood of v in the rational affine subspace of the dual complex, such that the degenerations corresponding to the rational points have bounded central fibers. This is done by giving a positive lower bound of the alpha-invariant.

Notice that this statement does not depend on ξ_0 , so we may assume ξ_0 is rational and take the quotient by $\langle \xi_0 \rangle$. Therefore we need to generalize the estimate of the alpha-invariant in [LXZ21] to the toroidal case.

There are several remarkable corollaries of the finite generation result.

Theorem 1.0.7 (Optimal Destabilization Conjecture). Let (X, D, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity of dimension n. Assume that $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) < \frac{n+1}{n}$. Then $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) \in \mathbb{Q}$ and there exists a divisorial valuation ord_E over X that computes $\delta(X, D, \xi_0)$.

Theorem 1.0.8 (Yau-Tian-Donaldson Conjecture). A log Fano cone singularity (X, D, ξ_0) is K-polystable if and only if it is uniformly K-stable. Furthermore, A log Fano cone singularity (X, D, ξ_0) admits a weak Ricci-flat Kähler potential if and only if it is K-polystable.

Chi Li [Li21] gives a different approach to prove the Yau-Tian-Donaldson Conjecture for Fano cone, using the correspondence with g-weighted stability.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

2.1 Log Fano Cone Singularity

Assume $X = \operatorname{Spec}_{\mathbb{C}}(R)$ is an affine variety with \mathbb{Q} -Gorenstein klt singularities. Denote by T the complex torus $(\mathbb{C}^*)^r$. Assume X admits a good T- action in the following sense.

Definition 2.1.1. Let X = Spec(R) be a normal affine variety. We say that a *T*- action is *good* if it is effective and there exists a unique closed point $x \in X$ lies in the closure of any orbit. We call x the vertex of X.

Let $N = \text{Hom}(\mathbb{C}^*, T)$ be the co-weight lattice and $M = N^*$ be the weight lattice. We have the weight decomposition

$$R = \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Lambda} R_{\alpha} \text{ where } \Lambda = \{ \alpha \in M \mid R_{\alpha} \neq 0 \}$$

The action being good implies $R_0 = \mathbb{C}$, which will always be assumed in the below. An ideal \mathfrak{a} is called homogeneous if $\mathfrak{a} = \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Lambda} \mathfrak{a} \cap R_{\alpha}$. Denote by $\sigma^{\vee} \subset M_{\mathbb{Q}}$ the cone generated by Λ over \mathbb{Q} ,

which is called the *weight cone* (or the *moment cone*), is the same as the following set

$$\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}^{+} = \{ \xi \in N_{\mathbb{R}} \mid \langle \alpha, \xi \rangle > 0 \text{ for any } 0 \neq \alpha \in \Lambda \}$$

Definition 2.1.2 (Reeb cone). The above set $\mathfrak{t}^+_{\mathbb{R}}$ is called Reeb cone. A vector $\xi \in \mathfrak{t}^+_{\mathbb{R}}$ is called a Reeb vector. We define rank (ξ) to be the dimension of the subtorus T_{ξ} generated by ξ .

We recall the following structure results for any T-varieties.

Theorem 2.1.3 ([AH06]). Let $X = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ be a normal affine variety and suppose $T = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C}([M]))$ acts effectively on X with weight cone $\sigma^{\vee} \subseteq M_{\mathbb{Q}}$. Then there exists a normal semiprojective variety Y such that $\pi : X \to Y$ is the good quotient under T-action and a polyhedral divisor \mathfrak{D} such that there is an isomorphism of graded algebras:

$$R \cong H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \cong \bigoplus_{u \in \sigma^{\vee} \cap M} H^0(Y, \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{D}(u))) =: R(Y, \mathfrak{D}).$$

In fact, X is equal to $\operatorname{Spec}_{\mathbb{C}}(\bigoplus_{u\in\sigma^{\vee}\cap M}H^{0}(Y,\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{D}(u)))).$

Theorem 2.1.4 ([LX18]). Assume a *T*-variety *X* is determined by the data $(Y, \sigma, \mathfrak{D})$ such that *Y* is projective, σ is a maximal dimension one cone in $N_{\mathbb{R}}$ and \mathfrak{D} is a polyhedral divisor.

1. For any T-invariant quasi-monomial valuation v, there exists a quasi-monomial valuation $v^{(0)}$ over Y and $\xi \in M_{\mathbb{R}}$ such that for any $f \cdot \chi^u \in R_u$, we have :

$$v(f \cdot \chi^u) = v^{(0)}(f) + \langle u, \xi \rangle.$$

2. T-invariant divisors on X are either vertical or horizontal. Any horizontal divisor is determined by a divisor Z on Y and a vertex v of \mathfrak{D}_Z , and will be denoted by $D_{(Z,v)}$. Any vertical divisor is determined by a ray ρ of σ and will be denoted by E_{ρ} . 3. Let D be a T-invariant vertical effective Q-divisor. If $K_X + D$ is Q-Cartier, then the log canonical divisor has a representation $K_X + D = \pi^* H + div(\chi^{-u_0})$ where $H = \sum_Z a_Z \cdot Z$ is a principal Q-divisor on Y and $u_0 \in M_Q$. Moreover, the log discrepancy of the horizontal divisor E_ρ is given by:

$$A_{(X,D)}(E_{\rho}) = \langle u_0, n_{\rho} \rangle,$$

where n_{ρ} is the primitive vector along the ray ρ .

Using the above structure theorem, we have the following (see [LX18][Lemma 2.16, Lemma 2.18])

Proposition 2.1.5. Any Reeb vector ξ gives a quasi-monomial valuation on X

$$\operatorname{wt}_{\xi} : f \mapsto \min_{\alpha \in \Lambda} \{ \langle \alpha, \xi \rangle \mid f = \sum_{\alpha} f_{\alpha}, f_{\alpha} \neq 0 \}$$

. The rational rank of wt_{ξ} is $\operatorname{rank}(\xi)$, the center of wt_{ξ} is x, and the log discrepancy of wt_{ξ} is given by $A_{(X,D)}(\operatorname{wt}_{\xi}) = \langle u_0, \xi \rangle$.

Definition 2.1.6. Using the above notation, for any $\eta \in \mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}$, we define:

$$A_{(X,D)}(\eta) = \langle u_0, \eta \rangle.$$

Definition 2.1.7 (log Fano cone singularity). Let (X, D) be an affine klt pair with a good torus action, where D is a T-invariant vertical divisor. For a fixed $\xi_0 \in \mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}^+$, we call the triple (X, D, ξ_0) a klt singularity with a log Fano cone structure that is polarized by ξ_0 . We denote T to be the torus generated by ξ_0 .

2.2 Valuations and normalized volume

Let X be a normal variety. A *real valuation* of its function field K(X) is a nonconstant valuation map $v: K(X)^{\times} \to \mathbb{R}$ which is trivial on \mathbb{C} .

We say a valuation is centered at a scheme-theoretic point $\xi = c_X(v)$ if $v \ge 0$ on $\mathcal{O}_{X,\xi}$ and v > 0 on the maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m}_{X,\xi}$. Let $\operatorname{Val}_{X,x}$ denote all the valuations centered at the closed point $x \in X$. If we have a torus T acting on X, we use Val_X^T to denote all valuations $v \in \operatorname{Val}_X$ that are T-equivariant. For the purpose of this paper, we only care about the valuations that are T-equivariant.

Definition 2.2.1. If $Y \to X$ is a proper birational morphism, with Y normal, and $E \subset Y$ is a prime divisor (called a *prime divisor over* X), then E defines a valuation $\operatorname{ord}_E : \mathbb{C}(X)^* \to \mathbb{Z}$ in Val_X given by order of vanishing at the generic point of E. Any valuation of the form $v = c \operatorname{ord}_E$ with $c \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ will be called *divisorial*.

Definition 2.2.2 (quasi-monomial valuation). Let $\pi : Y \to X$ be a birational morphism where Y is normal. Let $\eta \in Y$ be a scheme-theoretic point such that Y is regular at η . For a regular system of parameters (y_1, \ldots, y_r) of $\mathcal{O}_{Y,\eta}$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^r_{\geq 0}$, we define a valuation v_α as follows. For $f \in \mathcal{O}_{Y,\eta} - \{0\}$, we may write f in $\widehat{\mathcal{O}_{Y,\eta}} \cong \kappa(\eta)[y_1, \ldots, y_r]$ as $f = \sum_{\beta \in \mathbb{Z}^r_{\geq 0}} c_\beta y^\beta$, where $c_\beta \in \kappa(\eta)$ and $y^\beta = y_1^{\beta_1} \ldots y_r^{\beta_r}$ with $\beta = (\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_r)$. We set

$$v_{\alpha}(f) := \min\{\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle \mid c_{\beta} \neq 0\}.$$

A valuation is called *quasi-monomial* if $v = v_{\alpha}$ for some $\pi : Y \to X, \eta, (y_1, \ldots, y_r)$ and α . It is proven in [ELS03] that a valuation is quasi-monomial if and only if it is an Abhyankar valuation, i.e. v satisfies $\operatorname{trdeg}(v) + \operatorname{rat.rk}(v) = \dim X$ where $\operatorname{trdeg}(v)$ is the transcendental degree of v. From the above defition, we have that for ant $f \in \mathcal{O}_{Y,\eta} - \{0\}$, the function $\alpha \mapsto v_{\alpha}(f)$ is piecewise rational linear and is concave, i.e.

$$v_{t\alpha_1+(1-t)\alpha_2}(f) \ge t \cdot v_{\alpha_1}(f) + (1-t) \cdot v_{\alpha_2}(f)$$

for any $0 \leq t \leq 1$ and any $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}^r$. In particular, for any non-trivial effective \mathbb{Q} - Cartier divisor D (resp. graded sequence \mathfrak{a}_{\bullet} of ideals) on X, the function $\alpha \mapsto v_{\alpha}(D)$ (resp. $\alpha \mapsto v_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{a}_{\bullet})$) is piecewise rational linear and concave. If, in addition, $\pi : (Y, E = \sum_{i=1}^{l})E_i) \to X$ is a log smooth model where $(y_i = 0) = E_i$ for $1 \leq i \leq r$ as an irreducible component of E, then we denote the set $\{v_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}^r\}$ by $QM_{\eta}(Y, E)$. We also set $QM(Y, E) := \bigcup_{\eta} QM_{\eta}(Y, E)$ where η runs through all generic points of $\bigcap_{i \in I} E_i$ for some non-empty subset $I \subseteq \{1, \ldots, ll\}$. Notice that if v is a quasi-monomial valuation and q is its rational rank, then the log resolution $\pi : Y \to X$ can be chosen (by passing to a further blowup) such that $v \in QM_{\eta}(Y, E)$ for some codimension q point η .

Given a valuation $v \in \operatorname{Val}_{X,x}$ and any integer m, we define the associated valuation ideal $\mathfrak{a}_m(v) := \{f \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x} \mid v(f) \geq m\}.$

Definition 2.2.3. Let X be an n-dimensional normal variety. Let $x \in X$ be a closed point. We define the volume of a valuation $v \in \operatorname{Val}_{X,x}$ as

$$\operatorname{vol}_{X.x}(v) = \limsup_{m \to \infty} \frac{l(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/\mathfrak{a}_m(v))}{m^n/n!}$$

Definition 2.2.4. Let (X, Δ) be a klt log pair. Consider a proper birational morphism from a normal variety $\mu: Y \to X$, and a prime divisor $E \subset Y$. We define the log discrepancy function of valuations $A_{(X,\Delta)}(\operatorname{ord}_E)$ to be:

$$A_{(X,\Delta)}(\operatorname{ord}_E) := 1 + \operatorname{ord}_E(K_Y - \mu^*(K_X + \Delta))$$

The log discrepancy function can be naturally extended to a lower semicontinuous function

 $A_{X,\Delta}$: Val_X $\to (0, +\infty]$ extending $A_{(X,\Delta)}(\text{ord}_E)$ that is homogeneous of order 1. See [BdFFU15] for details.

We use v_{triv} to denote the trivial valuation, and set

$$\operatorname{Val}_X^\circ := (\operatorname{Val}_X^\circ)^T = \{ v \in \operatorname{Val}_X^T \mid A_{X,D}(v) < +\infty \text{ and } v \neq v_{triv} \}.$$

If (X, D) is lc, then $v \in \operatorname{Val}_X$ is an *lc place* of (X, D) if $A_{X,D}(v) = 0$. If (Y, E) is a log smooth model over an lc pair (X, D) satisfying $\operatorname{Supp}(Ex(\pi) + \pi_*^{-1}D) \subseteq E$, then we know that the set of all lc places of (X, D) coincides with $\operatorname{QM}(Y, E')$ where E' is the sum of irreducible components E_i of E satisfying $A_{X,D}(E_i) = 0$. In particular, any lc place of (X, D) is a quasi-monomial valuation in $\operatorname{QM}(Y, E)$.

Definition 2.2.5 ([Li18]). Let (X, Δ) be an *n*-dimensional klt log pair. Let $x \in X$ be a closed point. The normalized volume function of valuations $\widehat{\text{vol}}_{(X,\Delta),x} : \text{Val}_{X,x} \to (0, +\infty]$ is defined as

$$\widehat{\operatorname{vol}}_{(X,\Delta),x}(v) = \begin{cases} A_{(X,\Delta)}(v)^n \operatorname{vol}_{X,x}(v), & \operatorname{if} A_{(X,\Delta)}(v) < +\infty \\ +\infty, & \operatorname{if} A_{(X,\Delta)}(v) = +\infty \end{cases}$$

Let V be a Q-Fano variety and $X = C(V, -K_V)$ is the affine cone with vertex o. Consider V as the exceptional divisor of the blow up $Bl_oX \to X$, we have the canonical divisorial valuation ord_V on X.

Theorem 2.2.6 ([Li17]). $(V, -K_V)$ is K-semistable if and only if $\widehat{\text{vol}}$ is \mathbb{C}^* -equivariantly minimized at ord_V over (X, o).

2.3 K-semistability of log Fano cone singularity

Following the log Fano case, we can also define the notion of (special) test configuration, Futaki invariant and K-stability for log Fano cone singularities.

Definition 2.3.1. Let (X, D, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity and T be the torus generated by ξ_0 . A T-equivariant special test configuration of (X, D, ξ_0) is a quadruple $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \eta)$ with a map $\pi : ((\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}) \to \mathbb{A}^1 (= \mathbb{C})$ satisfying the following conditions:

(1) π is a flat family of log pairs such that the fibers away from 0 are isomorphic to (X, D) and $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{R})$ is affine, where \mathcal{R} is a finitely generated flat $\mathbb{C}[t]$ algebra. The torus T acts on \mathcal{X} , and we write $\mathcal{R} = \bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathcal{R}_{\alpha}$ as the decomposition into weight spaces;

(2) η is an algebraic holomorphic vector field on \mathcal{X} generating a \mathbb{C}^* -action on $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D})$ such that π is \mathbb{C}^* -equivariant where \mathbb{C}^* acts on the base \mathbb{C} by multiplication (so that $\pi_*\eta = t\partial_t$ if t is the affine coordinate on \mathbb{A}^1) and there is a \mathbb{C}^* -equivariant isomorphism $\phi : ((\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}) \times_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^* \cong (X, D) \times \mathbb{C}^*;$

(3) the algebraic holomorphic vector field ξ_0 on $\mathcal{X} \times_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^*$ (via the isomorphism ϕ) extends to a holomorphic vector field on \mathcal{X} (still denote by ξ_0) and generates a *T*-action on $((\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D})$ that commutes with the \mathbb{C}^* - action generated by η and preserves (X_0, D_0) ;

(4) (X_0, D_0) has klt singularities and $(X_0, D_0, \xi_0|_{X_0})$ is a log Fano cone singularity.

 $((\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \eta)$ is a product test configuration if there is a *T*-equivariant isomorphism $((\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}) \cong (X, D) \times \mathbb{C}$ and $\eta = \eta_0 + t\partial_t$ with $\eta_0 \in \mathfrak{t}$.

By abuse of notation, we still denote $\xi_0|_{X_0}$ by ξ_0 . For simplicity, we still just say that $((\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D})$ is a special test configuration if ξ_0, η are clear. We also say $((\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0, \eta \text{ specially degenerates to} (X_0, D_0, \xi_0; \eta)$ (or simply (X_0, D_0)).

Since *T*-action and \mathbb{C}^* -action commute with each other, X_0 has a $T' = (T \times \mathbb{C}^*)$ -action generated by $\{\xi_0, \eta\}$. Let $\mathfrak{t}' = \operatorname{Lie}(T')$. For any $\xi \in \mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}'^+$, we have $\operatorname{wt}_{\xi} \in \operatorname{Val}_{X_0,o'}$ where $o' \in X_0$ is the vertex point of the central fiber X_0 . So we can define its volume $\operatorname{vol}(\operatorname{wt}_{\xi})$ and normalized volume $\operatorname{vol}(\operatorname{wt}_{\xi})$. For simplicity of notations, we will frequently just write ξ in place of wt_{ξ} . **Remark 2.3.2.** The volume $vol(\xi)$ is given by

$$\operatorname{vol}(\xi) := \operatorname{vol}_X(\operatorname{wt}_{\xi}) = \lim_{m \to +\infty} \frac{\dim_{\mathbb{C}} R/\mathfrak{a}_m(\operatorname{wt}_{\xi})}{m^n/n!}$$

In [CS19] the volume can be viewed via the index character. Let $X_0 = \text{Spec}(B)$ and $B = \bigoplus_{\alpha'} B_{\alpha'}$ be the weight decomposition with respect to T'. For any $\xi \in \mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\prime+}$, the index character is defined as

$$\Phi(t,\xi) = \sum_{\alpha'} e^{-t\langle \alpha',\xi\rangle} \dim B_{\alpha'}.$$

Then $\Phi(t,\xi)$ has the expansion:

$$\Phi(t,\xi) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(\xi)}{t^{n+1}} + O(t^{-n}).$$

Definition 2.3.3 ([CS19]). Let (X_0, D_0, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity with a good action by $T' \cong (\mathbb{C}^*)^{r+1}$. Denote vol = vol_(X0,D0) on $\mathfrak{t}'_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $A = A_{(X0,D0)}$ on $\mathfrak{t}'_{\mathbb{R}}$. Assume $\xi_0 \in \mathfrak{t}'_{\mathbb{R}}^+$. For any $\eta \in \mathfrak{t}'_{\mathbb{R}}$, we define the generalized Futaki invariant to be:

$$\operatorname{Fut}(X_0, D_0, \xi_0; \eta) := (D_{-\eta} \widehat{\operatorname{vol}})(\xi_0) = nA(\xi_0)^{n-1}A(-\eta)\operatorname{vol}(\xi_0) + A(\xi)^n \cdot (D_{-\eta} \operatorname{vol})(\xi_0)$$

If $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \eta)$ is a special test configuration of (X, D, ξ_0) , then the Futaki invariant of $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \eta)$, denoted by Fut $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \eta)$ is defined to be Fut $(X_0, D_0, \xi_0; \eta)$.

Remark 2.3.4. When ξ_0 is rational, i.e. ξ_0 generates a one dimensional torus $T \cong \mathbb{C}^*$, then quotient by T we get a log Fano pair (Y, E). In this case (X, D) is indeed a cone over a log Fano pair. The special test configuration of (X, D, ξ_0) becomes a special test configuration of (Y, E). The Futaki invariant defined in 2.3.3 is a rescaling of $\operatorname{Fut}(Y, E)$ (see [Li17, Lemma 6.20]). This also verifies the definition coincides with the one in [CS19] as any vector could be approximated by rational ones and the Futaki invariant in both definitions are continuous and coincide when ξ_0 is rational.

Definition 2.3.5. Let $(X, D, \xi_0; \eta)$ be a log Fano cone singularity. We say it is K-semistable if for any *T*-invariant special test configuration \mathcal{X} that degenerates (X, D, ξ_0) to $(X_0, D_0, \xi_0; \eta)$, we have

$$\operatorname{Fut}(X_0, D_0, \xi_0; \eta) \ge 0.$$

We will need the following result later.

Theorem 2.3.6. [LX18] (X, D, ξ_0) is K-semistable if and only if wt_{ξ_0} is a minimizer of $\widehat{vol}_{(X,D)}$ in Val_X° .

2.4 Filtrations

Definition 2.4.1. A filtration \mathcal{F} on $R = \bigoplus_{\alpha} R_{\alpha}$ is a family $\mathcal{F}^{\lambda} R_{\alpha} \subseteq R_{\alpha}$ of \mathbb{C} -vector spaces of R_{α} for $\alpha \in \Lambda$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^+$, satisfying:

- (1) \mathcal{F} is decreasing: $\mathcal{F}^{\lambda}R_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathcal{F}^{\lambda'}R_{\alpha}$ if $\lambda \geq \lambda'$;
- (2) \mathcal{F} is left continuous: $\mathcal{F}^{\lambda}R_{\alpha} = \bigcap_{\lambda' < \lambda} \mathcal{F}^{\lambda'}R_{\alpha}$ for $\lambda > 0$;
- (3) \mathcal{F} is multiplicative: $\mathcal{F}^{\lambda}R_{\alpha} \cdot \mathcal{F}^{\lambda'}R_{\alpha'} \subseteq \mathcal{F}^{\lambda+\lambda'}R_{\alpha+\alpha'}$;
- (4) \mathcal{F} is *T*-invariant: $\mathcal{F}^{\lambda}R = \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Lambda} \mathcal{F}^{\lambda}R_{\alpha}$;
- (5) $\mathcal{F}^0 R = R$, and for any $\alpha \in \Lambda$, $\mathcal{F}^{\lambda} R = 0$ for $\lambda \gg 0$.

Definition 2.4.2. Let \mathcal{F} be a filtration on R. The associated graded ring $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathcal{F}} R$ of \mathcal{F} is defined as

$$\operatorname{gr}_{\mathcal{F}} R := \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Lambda} \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}} \operatorname{gr}_{\mathcal{F}}^{\lambda} R_{\alpha}$$

where $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathcal{F}}^{\lambda} R_{\alpha} := \mathcal{F}^{\lambda} R_{\alpha} / \bigcup_{\lambda' > \lambda} \mathcal{F}^{\lambda'} R_{\alpha}$. We say that \mathcal{F} is finitely generated if $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathcal{F}} R$ is finitely generated \mathbb{C} - algebra. For a valuation $v \in \operatorname{Val}_X$, we define the associated graded ring of v by

 $\operatorname{gr}_{v} R := \operatorname{gr}_{\mathcal{F}_{v}} R.$

Definition 2.4.3. For any integer m, we define $R_m := \bigoplus_{m=1 < \langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle \le m} R_\alpha$, so $R = \bigoplus_{m=0}^{+\infty} R_m$. Write $N_\alpha := \dim_{\mathbb{C}} R_\alpha$, and $N_m := \dim_{\mathbb{C}} R_m$ for $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $M(R) \subset \mathbb{N}$ for the semigroup of $m \in \mathbb{N}$ for which $N_m > 0$. For later convenience, we rescale ξ_0 to make $R_m \neq \emptyset$ for sufficiently large m.

Denote $R^{(t)} = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{+\infty} \mathcal{F}^{kt} R_k$. We define the volume

$$\operatorname{vol}(R^{(t)}) := \limsup_{k \to +\infty} \frac{\dim_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{F}^{kt} R_k}{k^n/n!}$$

Remark 2.4.4. Notice that our definition of R_m is different from the definition in [Wu21]. If ξ_0 is rational, we know (X, D) is a cone over (Y, E), then up to rescaling of ξ_0 , R_m defined above equals to $H^0(Y, m(-K_Y - E))$. This matches with the definition of R_m in [BJ17] and [LX20].

We define $R_m^t := \mathcal{F}^{mt} R_m$ for $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, and set

$$T_{\alpha} := T_{\alpha}(\mathcal{F}) := \sup\{t \ge 0 \mid \mathcal{F}^{t \cdot \langle \xi_0, \alpha \rangle} R_{\alpha} \neq 0\}$$

$$T_m := T_m(\mathcal{F}) := \sup\{t \ge 0 \mid R_m^t = \mathcal{F}^{mt} R_m \neq 0\}.$$

Notice that $\{\mathcal{F}R_m\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ is not a filtration, but we still have

Lemma 2.4.5. We define the pseudo-effective threshold

$$T := T(\mathcal{F}) := \sup_{m} T_m(\mathcal{F}).$$

Then $\lim_{m\to\infty} T_m$ exists and equals to T.

Proof. First assume $T < +\infty$, then for any $\epsilon > 0$, we can find some $\alpha_0 \in \Lambda$ such that $T_{\alpha_0} \ge T - \epsilon$.

Let e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_r be a lattice basis for Λ . Suppose $\alpha_0 = \sum_i q_i \cdot e_i$, where $q_i \in \mathbb{N}$. Notice that for any two lattice points $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in \Lambda$, we have $\langle \xi_0, \alpha_1 \rangle T_{\alpha_1} + \langle \xi_0, \alpha_2 \rangle T_{\alpha_2} \leq \langle \xi_0, \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 \rangle T_{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2}$. So for any $\alpha = n\alpha_0 + \sum_i c_i \cdot e_i \in \Lambda$ where $0 \leq c_i \leq q_i, n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have $\langle \xi_0, \alpha \rangle T_\alpha \geq n \langle \xi_0, \alpha_0 \rangle T_{\alpha_0}$. Since $\langle \xi_0, \alpha \rangle \leq (n+1) \langle \xi_0, \alpha_0 \rangle$, so $T_\alpha \geq \frac{n}{n+1} T_{\alpha_0} \geq \frac{n}{n+1} (T-\epsilon)$. When *n* is sufficiently large we have $T_\alpha \geq T - 2\epsilon$. For sufficiently large *m* we can always find some α above such that $R_\alpha \subset R_m$, notice that

$$T_m \le \sup_{m-1 < \langle \xi_0, \alpha \rangle \le m} T_\alpha \le \frac{m}{m-1} T_m$$

we have $T_m \ge T - 3\epsilon$ when $m \gg 1$. Hence $\lim_{m\to\infty} T_m = T$.

If $T = +\infty$, we just choose any M > 0 and find $T_{\alpha_0} > M$. The rest is the same.

The filtration is said to be *linearly bounded* if $T(\mathcal{F}) < \infty$. Note that being linearly bounded is not independent of the choice of ξ_0 .

Example 2.4.6 (Filtration from test configuration). [Wu21, Prop 3.8] Any test configuration $(\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{R}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \eta)$ for (X, ξ_0) induces a filtration \mathcal{F} on R defined by

$$\mathcal{F}^{\lambda}R := \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Lambda} \{ f \in R_{\alpha} \mid t^{-\lambda}\bar{f} \in \mathcal{R}_{\alpha} \}$$

for $\lambda \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, where \overline{f} denotes the pullback of f under the composition $\mathcal{X} \times_{\mathbb{A}^1} (\mathbb{A}^1 - \{0\}) \cong X \times (\mathbb{A}^1 - \{0\}) \to X$, and

$$\mathcal{F}^{\lambda}R_{\alpha} := \mathcal{F}^{\lceil \lambda \rceil}R_{\alpha}$$

for general $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$. This filtration is linearly bounded, and finitely generated as a \mathbb{Z} -filtration, i.e. the bi-graded algebra

$$\bigoplus_{\alpha\in\Lambda} \left(\bigoplus_{\lambda\in\mathbb{Z}} t^{-\lambda} \mathcal{F}^{\lambda} R_{\alpha}\right)$$

is a finitely generated $\mathbb{C}[t]$ -algebra.

Example 2.4.7 (Filtration from valuation). Any valuation $v \in \operatorname{Val}_X$ induces a filtration \mathcal{F}_v on R

$$\mathcal{F}_v^{\lambda} R_{\alpha} := \{ s \in R_{\alpha} \mid v(s) \ge \lambda \}$$

2.5 Complement

Definition 2.5.1. A Q-complement of (X, D) is an effective Q-Cartier Q-divisor $B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -K_X - D$ such that (X, D+B) is log canonical. A Q-complement B is called an N-complement for $N \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$ if $N(K_X + D + B) \sim 0$, and $N(D + B) \geq N \lfloor D \rfloor + \lfloor (N + 1) \{D\} \rfloor$ where $\{D\} = D - \lfloor D \rfloor$.

For the purpose of this paper, unless state otherwise, we only discuss *T*-equivariant complement. For any \mathbb{Q} -complement *B* of (X, D) we define the *dual complex* of (X, D + B) to be

$$\mathcal{DMR}(X, D+B) := \{ v \in \operatorname{Val}_X^\circ \mid A_{(X,D+B)}(v) = 0 \text{ and } A_{X,D}(v) = 1 \}.$$

In particular, the space of all lc places of (X, D + B) is a cone over $\mathcal{DMR}(X, D + B)$. By abuse of notation, we usually write $v \in \mathcal{DMR}(X, D + B)$ if v is an lc place of (X, D + B).

As in [LXZ21, Lemma 2.28], we have

Lemma 2.5.2. Assume that v is a divisorial lc place of some \mathbb{Q} -complement. Then $\operatorname{gr}_v R$ is finitely generated.

Chapter 3

A valuative criterion for K-semistability

3.1 A general volume formula

Let (X, D, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity with $T = (\mathbb{C}^*)^r$ action. Let v_1 be a *T*-invariant valuation centered at the vertex $x \in X$, with $A_{(X,D)}(v_1) < +\infty$. We write $v_0 := \operatorname{wt}_{\xi_0}$ to denote the canonical valuation.

We define the filtration \mathcal{F} on R as follow

$$\mathcal{F}^x R_\alpha = \{ f \in R_\alpha \mid v_1(f) \ge x \}.$$

If $A(v_1) < +\infty$, then the filtration is linearly bounded. Indeed by Izumi's theorem, there exists $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that $c_1v_0 \le v \le c_2v_0$. If $f \in R_{\alpha}, v_1(f) \ge x$ then $v_0(f) \ge c_2^{-1}x$ so when $x > c_2v_0(f)$, we have $\mathcal{F}^x R_{\alpha} = 0$. So \mathcal{F} is linearly bounded from above. Similarly, if $x < c_1v_0(f)$ for some $f \in R_{\alpha}$ then $\mathcal{F}^x R_{\alpha} = F_{\alpha}$. So \mathcal{F} is linearly bounded from below.

For later convenience, from now on we will fix the following constant:

$$c_1 := \inf_{\mathfrak{m}} \frac{v_1}{v_0} > 0$$

We still write $\mathcal{F}^{x}R_{k}$ to denote $\bigoplus_{R_{\alpha} \subset R_{m}} \mathcal{F}^{x}R_{\alpha}$. The filtration \mathcal{F} can help us calculate the volume of v_{1} via the following observation.

Lemma 3.1.1. For any $m \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$, we have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(R_k/\mathcal{F}^m R_k) = \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(R/\mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)).$$

Notice that because \mathcal{F} is linear bounded, so there are only finitely many nonzero elements in the left hand side.

Proof. For each $\alpha \in \Lambda$, we set $d_{\alpha} = \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(R_{\alpha}/\mathcal{F}^m R_{\alpha})$. Then we can choose a basis of $R_{\alpha}/\mathcal{F}^m R_{\alpha}$:

$$\{ [f_i^\alpha]_\alpha \mid f_i^\alpha \in R_\alpha, 1 \le i \le d_\alpha \},\$$

here we use $[\cdot]_{\alpha}$ to denote the quotient class in $R_{\alpha}/\mathcal{F}^m R_{\alpha}$. When $\langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle > m/c_1$, the set becomes empty. We want to show the set

$$B := \{ [f_i^{\alpha}] \mid 1 \le i \le d_{\alpha}, 0 \le \langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle < m/c_1 \}$$

is a basis of $R/\mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)$, here $[\cdot]$ means taking quotient in $R/\mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)$. First we show that the elements in B are linearly independent. Assume we have a nontrivial linear combination of $[f_i^{\alpha}]$:

$$\sum_{\alpha \in \Lambda} \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\alpha}} c_i^{\alpha}[f_i^{\alpha}] = \left[\sum_{\alpha \in \Lambda} \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\alpha}} c_i^{\alpha} f_i^{\alpha}\right] = [f^{k_1} + \dots + f^{k_p}] =: [F]$$

where $f^{k_j} \neq 0$ is an element in $R_{k_j} - \mathcal{F}^m R_{k_j}$ and $k_1 < k_2 < \cdots < k_p$. Now $f^{k_1} \notin \mathcal{F}^m R_{k_1}$ and $v_1(F) > k_1$, so that $f^{k_1} + \ldots f^{k_p} \notin \mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)$. Hence $[F] \neq 0 \in R/\mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)$.

Next we show that B indeed spans $R/\mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)$. Suppose on the contrary we have some $\alpha_0 \in \Lambda$ and some element $f \in R_{\alpha_0} - \mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)$ such that $[f] \neq 0 \in R/\mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)$ that cannot be written as a linear combination of $[f_i^{\alpha}]$. Let us assume $f \in R_k$. We first show that we could find a maximal k such that this thing happens. This is from the fact that the following set

$$\{v_0(g) \mid g \in R - \mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)\}$$

is finite (because v_1 is bounded by v_0).

So we could find some k such that any α_1 such that $\langle \alpha_1, \xi_0 \rangle > k$ and $g \in R_{\alpha_1}$, [g] lies in the span of B.

If $f \in R_k - \mathcal{F}^m R_k$, then since $[f_i^{\alpha}]_{\alpha}$ where $k - 1 < \langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle \leq k$ is a basis of $R_k / \mathcal{F}^m R_k$, we can write f as $\sum_j c_j f_j^{\alpha} + h_k$ where $h_k \in \mathcal{F}^m R_k$. So there exists some $h \in \mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)$ such that $f = \sum_j c_j f_j^{\alpha} + h$ and $v_0(h - h_k) > k$. By the maximality of k, $[h - h_k]$ lies in the span of B, so [f] lies in the span of B. This is a contradiction.

If $f \in \mathcal{F}^m R_k \subseteq R_k$. Then by the definition of $\mathcal{F}^m R_k$, we can find some $h \in R$ such that $f + h \in \mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)$ and $v_0(f + h) = v_0(f)$. Since we assumed $[f] \neq 0$ in $R/\mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)$, so $h \neq 0$ and $k' = v_0(h) > v_0(f) = k$. So we know that [f] = [(f + h) - h] = [-h] lies in the span of B. This is still a contradiction.

Lemma 3.1.2. Let \mathcal{F} be a linearly bounded filtration on R. For any $u \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $v > -c_1$, we have

$$\lim_{p \to +\infty} \frac{n!}{p^n} \sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor up/(v+c_1) \rfloor} \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{up-vi}R_i) = n \int_{c_1}^{+\infty} \operatorname{vol}(R^{(x)}) \frac{u^n dx}{(v+x)^{n+1}}$$

Proof. Let $\phi(y) = \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{up-vy}R_{\lfloor y \rfloor})$. Then $\phi(y)$ is an increasing function on [m, m + 1) for any $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $\phi(y) \leq \dim_{\mathbb{C}} R_{\lfloor y \rfloor} \leq Cy^{n-1}$. Notice \mathcal{F}^x is decreasing in x, so that $\phi(y) \geq$ $\dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{up-v\lfloor y \rfloor}R_{\lfloor y \rfloor})$. So we have

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor up/(v+c_1) \rfloor} \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{up-vi}R_i) \leq \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor up/(v+c_1) \rfloor - 1} \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{up-vi}R_i)\right) + \dim_{\mathbb{C}}R_{\lfloor up/(v+c_1) \rfloor}$$
$$\leq \left(\int_0^{up/(v+c_1)} \phi(y)dy\right) + O(p^{n-1})$$
$$= \left(p\int_{c_1}^{+\infty} \phi(\frac{up}{v+x})\frac{udx}{(v+x)^2}\right) + O(p^{n-1})$$

Then we have

$$\limsup_{p \to +\infty} \frac{\phi(up/(v+x))}{p^{n-1}/(n-1)!} = \limsup_{p \to +\infty} \frac{\dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{upx/(v+x)}R_{\lfloor up/(v+x) \rfloor})}{p^{n-1}/(n-1)!}$$
$$\leq \limsup_{p \to +\infty} \frac{\dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{upx/(v+x)}R_{\lfloor up/(v+x) \rfloor})}{\lfloor up/(v+x) \rfloor^{n-1}/(n-1)!} \frac{\lfloor up/(v+x) \rfloor^{n-1}}{(up/(v+x))^{n-1}} \frac{u^{n-1}}{(v+x)^{n-1}}$$
$$= \operatorname{vol}(R^{(x)}) \frac{u^{n-1}}{(v+x)^{n-1}}.$$

The last equality holds by [BC11]. Now by Fatou's lemma, we have:

$$\limsup_{p \to +\infty} \frac{n!}{p^n} \sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor up/(v+c_1) \rfloor} \dim_{\mathbb{C}} (\mathcal{F}^{up-vi}R_i) \le n \limsup_{p \to +\infty} \left(\int_{c_1}^{+\infty} \frac{(n-1)!}{p^{n-1}} \phi(\frac{up}{v+x}) \frac{udx}{(v+x)^2} + O(p^{-1}) \right)$$
$$\le n \int_{c_1}^{+\infty} \limsup_{p \to +\infty} \frac{\phi(up/(v+x))}{p^{n-1}/(n-1)!} \frac{udx}{(v+x)^2}$$
$$\le n \int_{c_1}^{+\infty} \operatorname{vol}(R^{(x)}) \frac{u^n dx}{(v+x)^{n+1}}.$$

We can prove the other direction similarly. Define $\psi(y) = \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{up-vy}R_{\lceil y\rceil})$. Then $\phi(y)$ is an increasing function on (m, m+1] for any $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $\psi(y) \leq \dim_{\mathbb{C}} R_{\lceil y\rceil} \leq Cy^{n-1}$, and that

 $\psi(y) \leq \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{up-v\lceil y\rceil}R_{\lceil y\rceil}).$ So we have

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor up/(v+c_1) \rfloor} \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{up-vi}R_i) \ge \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\lceil up/(v+c_1) \rceil} \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{up-vi}R_i)\right) - \dim_{\mathbb{C}}R_{\lceil up/(v+c_1) \rceil}$$
$$\ge \left(\int_0^{up/(v+c_1)} \psi(y)dy\right) + O(p^{n-1})$$
$$= \left(p\int_{c_1}^{+\infty} \psi(\frac{up}{v+x})\frac{udx}{(v+x)^2}\right) + O(p^{n-1})$$

Then we have

$$\liminf_{p \to +\infty} \frac{\psi(up/(v+x))}{p^{n-1}/(n-1)!} = \liminf_{p \to +\infty} \frac{\dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{upx/(v+x)}R_{\lceil up/(v+x)\rceil})}{p^{n-1}/(n-1)!}$$
$$\geq \liminf_{p \to +\infty} \frac{\dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{upx/(v+x)}R_{\lceil up/(v+x)\rceil})}{\lceil up/(v+x)\rceil^{n-1}/(n-1)!} \frac{\lceil up/(v+x)\rceil^{n-1}}{(up/(v+x))^{n-1}} \frac{u^{n-1}}{(v+x)^{n-1}}$$
$$= \operatorname{vol}(R^{(x)}) \frac{u^{n-1}}{(v+x)^{n-1}}.$$

By Fatou's lemma, we get the other direction of the estimate:

$$\liminf_{p \to +\infty} \frac{n!}{p^n} \sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor up/(v+c_1) \rfloor} \dim_{\mathbb{C}} (\mathcal{F}^{up-vi}R_i) \ge n \liminf_{p \to +\infty} \left(\int_{c_1}^{+\infty} \frac{(n-1)!}{p^{n-1}} \psi(\frac{up}{v+x}) \frac{udx}{(v+x)^2} + O(p^{-1}) \right)$$
$$\ge n \int_{c_1}^{+\infty} \liminf_{p \to +\infty} \frac{\psi(up/(v+x))}{p^{n-1}/(n-1)!} \frac{udx}{(v+x)^2}$$
$$\ge n \int_{c_1}^{+\infty} \operatorname{vol}(R^{(x)}) \frac{u^n dx}{(v+x)^{n+1}}.$$

Therefore we have the identity

$$\lim_{p \to +\infty} \frac{n!}{p^n} \sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor up/(v+c_1) \rfloor} \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{F}^{up-vi}R_i) = n \int_{c_1}^{+\infty} \operatorname{vol}(R^{(x)}) \frac{u^n dx}{(v+x)^{n+1}}.$$

Proposition 3.1.3. Given a valuation $v_1 \in \operatorname{Val}_{(X,D),x}^T$, we have

$$\operatorname{vol}(v_1) = \frac{1}{c_1^n} \operatorname{vol}(\xi_0) - n \int_{c_1}^{+\infty} \operatorname{vol}(R^{(t)}) \frac{dt}{t^{n+1}}$$

Proof. By Lemma 3.1.1 we have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(R_k/\mathcal{F}^m R_k) = \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(R/\mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)).$$

Now that

•

$$n! \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(R/\mathfrak{a}_{m}(v_{1})) = n! \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(R_{k}/\mathcal{F}^{m}R_{k})$$
$$= n! \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor m/c_{1} \rfloor} (\dim_{\mathbb{C}} R_{k} - \dim_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{F}^{m}R_{k})$$
$$= \frac{m^{n}}{n!} \operatorname{vol}(\xi_{0}) - n \int_{c_{1}}^{+\infty} \operatorname{vol}(R^{(t)}) \frac{dt}{t^{n+1}} + O(m^{n-1})$$

The last equality uses Lemma 3.1.2. Now

$$\operatorname{vol}(v_1) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{n!}{m^n} \dim_{\mathbb{C}}(R/\mathfrak{a}_m(v_1)) = \frac{1}{c_1^n} \operatorname{vol}(\xi_0) - n \int_{c_1}^{+\infty} \operatorname{vol}(R^{(t)}) \frac{dt}{t^{n+1}}$$

_	

3.2 Kollár components

Definition 3.2.1. Let $o \in (X, D)$ be a klt singularity. We call a proper birational morphism $\mu: Y \to X$ a Kollár component S, if μ is isomorphic over $X - \{o\}$ and $\mu^{-1}(o)$ is an irreducible

divisor S, such that $(Y, S + \mu_*^{-1}D)$ is plt and (-S) is Q-Cartier and ample over X.

If we denote $K_S + \Delta_S = (K_Y + S + \mu_*^{-1}D)|_S$, then (S, Δ_S) is klt log Fano.

Special test configurations from Kollár component Let S be a T-invariant Kollár component over $o \in (X, D)$ and $\pi : Y \to X$ be the plt blow up extracting S and let $K_Y + \pi_*^{-1}D + S|_S =:$ $K_S + \Delta_S$. We can use the deformation to the normal cone construction to get a degeneration of X to an orbifold cone over (S, Δ_S) .

Denote the associated ring graded ring of $v_0 = \text{ord}_S$ by

$$A = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{+\infty} \mathfrak{a}_k(v_0)/\mathfrak{a}_{k+1}(v_0) = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{+\infty} A_k$$

We have a decomposition

$$\mathfrak{a}_k(v_0) = \bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathfrak{a}_k^{\alpha}(v_0) = \bigoplus_{\alpha} R_{\alpha} \cap \mathfrak{a}_k(v_0)$$

T acts equivariantly on the extended Rees algebra:

$$\mathcal{R}' = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{R}'_k := \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{a}_k(v_0) t^{-k} \subset R[t, t^{-1}]$$

Let $\mathcal{X} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{R}')$. Then we get a flat family $\pi : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{A}^1$ satisfying $X_t = \mathcal{X} \times_{\mathbb{A}^1} \{t\} = X$ and $X_0 = \mathcal{X} \times_{\mathbb{A}^1} \{0\} = \operatorname{Spec}(A)$. Let \mathcal{D} be the strict transform of $D \times \mathbb{A}^1$ under the birational morphism $\mathcal{X} \dashrightarrow \mathcal{X} \times \mathbb{A}^1$.

Definition 3.2.2. Assume that $o \in (X, D)$ is a klt singularity with a good *T*-action and *S* is a *T*-invariant Kollár component. Let $\mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{A}^1$ be the associated degeneration which degenerates (X, D) to a (X_0, D_0) and admits a $T' = T \times \mathbb{C}^*$ -action. For any $f = \sum f_k \in \mathcal{R}'$, $\operatorname{ord}_S(f) = \min\{k \mid f_k \neq 0\}$.

Over X_0 , ord_S corresponds to the \mathbb{C}^* -action corresponding to the \mathbb{Z} - grading, Denote the generating vector by $\xi_S \in \mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}^{'+}$.

With the above notation, we say that $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \xi_S)$ is the special test configuration associated to the Kollár component S. If ξ_0 and ξ_S are clear, we just use $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D})$ to denote the special test configuration.

Lemma 3.2.3. [LX18] Let $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \xi_S)$ denote the special test configuration associated to a *T*-invariant Kollár component *S*. Let (X_0, D_0) be the corresponding paor on the special fiber. For any $\xi_0 \in \mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}^{'+}$, let ξ_0 also denote the induced Reeb vector on X_0 . Then we have:

1.
$$A_{(X,D)}(\mathrm{ord}_S) = A_{(X_0,D_0)}(\mathrm{wt}_{\xi_S}), \mathrm{vol}_{(X,D)}(\mathrm{ord}_S) = \mathrm{vol}_{(X_0,D_0)}(\mathrm{wt}_{\xi_S})$$

2. $A_{(X,D)}(\mathrm{wt}_{\xi_0}) = A_{(X_0,D_0)}(\mathrm{wt}_{\xi_0}), \mathrm{vol}_{(X,D)}(\mathrm{wt}_{\xi_0}) = \mathrm{vol}_{(X_0,D_0)}(\mathrm{wt}_{\xi_0})$

3.3 The valuations w_{ϵ} and $w_{\xi_{\epsilon}}$

Let $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \eta)$ be any special test configuration. Let $\xi_{\epsilon} = \xi_0 - \epsilon \eta \in \mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\prime+}$, then wt_{\epsilon} can be considered as a valuation on \mathcal{X} . Using the embedding $\mathbb{C}(X) \to \mathbb{C}(\mathcal{X}) = \mathbb{C}(X \times \mathbb{C}^*) = \mathbb{C}(X \times \mathbb{C})$, wt_{ξ_{ϵ}} can be restricted to become a valuation w_{ϵ} on X. (see [Li17]) Alternatively by equivariantly embedding of \mathcal{X} into $\mathbb{C}^N \times \mathbb{C}$, wt_{ξ_{ϵ}} is induced by a linear holomorphic vector field, still denoted by ξ_{ϵ} , on \mathbb{C}^N . The weight function associated to ξ_{ϵ} induces a filtration on R whose associated graded ring is equal to the coordinate ring of X_0 . By [LX18, Lemma 2.11], this filtration is indeed determined by a valuation w_{ϵ} on X. As a consequence we have $\operatorname{vol}_{(X,D)}(w_{\epsilon}) = \operatorname{vol}_{(X_0,D_0)}(\operatorname{wt}_{\xi_{\epsilon}})$ because w_{ϵ} and wt_{ϵ} have the same associated graded ring. On the other hand, we have the following lemma.

Lemma 3.3.1. Use the above notation, for each fixed ϵ , $A_{(X,D)}(w_{\epsilon}) = A_{(X_0,D_0)}(w_{\xi_{\epsilon}})$. Therefore $\widehat{vol}_{(X,D)}(w_{\epsilon}) = \widehat{vol}_{(X_0,D_0)}(w_{\xi_{\epsilon}})$. As a consequence:

$$\operatorname{Fut}(X_0, D_0, \xi_0; \eta) = \frac{d}{d \epsilon} \Big|_{\epsilon=0} \widehat{\operatorname{vol}}_{(X_0, D_0)}(\operatorname{wt}_{\xi_{\epsilon}}) = \frac{d}{d \epsilon} \Big|_{\epsilon=0} \widehat{\operatorname{vol}}_{(X, D)}(w_{\epsilon})$$

Proof. For sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$, we choose a sequence of rational vector fields $\xi_{k,\epsilon} \in \mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{Q}}^+$ approaching ξ_{ϵ} as $k \to +\infty$. Then the \mathbb{C}^* -action generated by $\xi_{k,\epsilon}$ corresponds to a Kollár component $S_{k,\epsilon}$ which is isomorphic to the quotient $X_0/\langle \exp(\mathbb{C} \cdot \xi_{k,\epsilon}\rangle)$. So up to a base change, $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \xi_{k,\epsilon})$ is equivalent to the special test configuration associated to $S_{k,\epsilon}$ and there exists constants $c_{k,\epsilon} > 0$ such that $\operatorname{wt}_{\xi_{k,\epsilon}}|_{\mathbb{C}(X)} = c_{k,\epsilon} \cdot \operatorname{ord}_{S_{k,\epsilon}} \to w_{\epsilon}$ as $k \to +\infty$. So by Lemma 3.2.3, we know $A_{X,D}(c_{k,\epsilon} \cdot \operatorname{ord}_{S_{k,\epsilon}}) = A_{X_0,D_0}(\operatorname{wt}_{\xi_{S_{k,\epsilon}}})$. By taking a limit $k \to +\infty$, we get $A_{(X,D)}(w_{\epsilon}) = A_{(X_0,D_0)}(\operatorname{wt}_{\xi_{\epsilon}})$.

3.4 Proof of the valuative criterion

First we show that $\beta(v) \ge 0$ for all $v \in \operatorname{Val}_X^\circ$ implies K-semistability of (X, D, ξ_0) .

By [LX18, Proposition 3.6], we only need to consider the special test configuration associated to the Kollár components. Let S be a T-invariant Kollár component, and $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \eta = -\xi_S)$ be the corresponding test configuration, we have the valuations w_{ϵ} as above.

For any $f \in R$, we have

$$w_{\epsilon}(f) = \min_{\alpha} \{ \langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle + \epsilon \operatorname{ord}_S(f_{\alpha}) \mid f = \sum f_{\alpha}, f_{\alpha} \neq 0 \}$$

so $\mathcal{F}_{w_{\epsilon}}^{x}R_{\alpha} = \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{ord}_{S}}^{(x-\langle \alpha,\xi_{0}\rangle)/\epsilon}R_{\alpha}$. Notice that $R_{k} = \bigoplus_{k-1<\langle \alpha,\xi_{0}\rangle\leq k}R_{\alpha}$, so

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{ord}_S}^{(x-k+1)/\epsilon} R_k \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{w_{\epsilon}}^x R_k \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{ord}_S}^{(x-k)/\epsilon} R_k$$

so dim_C $\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{ord}_{S}}^{\frac{k(x-1)}{\epsilon} + \frac{1}{\epsilon}} R_{k} \leq \dim_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{F}_{w_{\epsilon}}^{kx} R_{k} \leq \dim_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{ord}_{S}}^{\frac{k(x-1)}{\epsilon}} R_{k}$. Recall that $\operatorname{vol}(\mathcal{F}_{v} R^{(x)}) = \limsup_{k \to \infty} \frac{\dim_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{F}_{v}^{kx} R_{k}}{k^{n}/n!}$, so $\operatorname{vol}(\mathcal{F}_{w_{\epsilon}} R^{(x)}) = \operatorname{vol}(\mathcal{F}_{\mathrm{ord}_{S}} R^{(\frac{x-1}{\epsilon})})$.

We also have $\inf_{\mathfrak{m}} \frac{w_{\epsilon}}{\mathrm{wt}_{\xi_0}} = 1$, so $c_1 = 1$. By Proposition 3.1.3 we have

$$\operatorname{vol}(w_{\epsilon}) = \operatorname{vol}(\xi_{0}) - n \int_{1}^{+\infty} \operatorname{vol}(\mathcal{F}_{w_{\epsilon}} R^{(t)}) \frac{dt}{t^{n+1}}$$
$$= \operatorname{vol}(\xi_{0}) - n \int_{0}^{+\infty} \operatorname{vol}(\mathcal{F}_{S} R^{(t)}) \frac{\epsilon \, dt}{(1+\epsilon \, t)^{n+1}}$$

The log discrepancy is given by

$$A_{(X,D)}(w_{\epsilon}) = A_{(X,D)}(\mathrm{wt}_{\xi_0}) + \epsilon A_{(X,D)}(S)$$

So we get the normalized volume of w_{ϵ} :

$$\widehat{\operatorname{vol}}(w_{\epsilon}) = (A_X(\xi_0) + \epsilon A_X(S))^n (\operatorname{vol}(\xi_0) - n \int_0^{+\infty} \operatorname{vol}(\mathcal{F}_S R^{(t)}) \frac{\epsilon \, dt}{(1 + \epsilon \, t)^{n+1}}).$$

The derivative at $\epsilon = 0$ is equal to:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{d\epsilon}\Big|_{\epsilon=0} \widehat{\operatorname{vol}}(w_{\epsilon}) &= nA_X(\xi_0)^{n-1}A_X(S)\operatorname{vol}(\xi_0) - nA_X(\xi_0)^n\operatorname{vol}(\xi_0)\int_0^{+\infty}\operatorname{vol}(\mathcal{F}_S R^{(t)})dt \\ &= nA_X(\xi_0)^{n-1}\operatorname{vol}(\xi_0)(A_X(S) - \frac{A_X(\xi_0)}{\operatorname{vol}(\xi_0)}\int_0^{+\infty}\operatorname{vol}(\mathcal{F}_S R^{(t)})dt) \\ &= nA_X(\xi_0)^{n-1}\operatorname{vol}(\xi_0)\beta(S) \end{aligned}$$

By Lemma 3.3.1, we know the Futaki invariant of $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \eta)$ is precisely $nA_X(\xi_0)^{n-1} \operatorname{vol}(\xi_0)\beta(S)$. So $\beta(S) \ge 0$ implies $\operatorname{Fut}((\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}, \xi_0; \eta)) \ge 0$. Hence we proved one side of the criterion.

For the other side, suppose (X, D, ξ_0) is K-semistable, we show that $\beta(\operatorname{ord}_E) \geq 0$ for all T-equivariant divisor E over X.

Given any T-invariant divisor E over X, we can similarly define the valuations w_{ϵ} to be

$$w_{\epsilon}(f) = \min_{\alpha} \{ \langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle + \epsilon \operatorname{ord}_E(f_{\alpha}) \mid f = \sum f_{\alpha}, f_{\alpha} \neq 0 \}$$

The above calculation still holds, which gives us $\frac{d}{d\epsilon}\Big|_{\epsilon=0} \widehat{\operatorname{vol}}(w_{\epsilon}) = nA_X(\xi_0)^{n-1} \operatorname{vol}(\xi_0)\beta(E)$. By Theorem 2.3.6, we know $\widehat{\operatorname{vol}}$ reaches its minimum at $\operatorname{wt}_{\xi_0} = w_0$, so $\frac{d}{d\epsilon}\Big|_{\epsilon=0} \widehat{\operatorname{vol}}(w_{\epsilon}) \geq 0$, hence $\beta(E) \geq 0$.

To prove the other side of the criterion, it suffices to show that $\beta(E) \ge 0$ for all *T*-equivariant divisor *E* implies $\beta(v) \ge 0$ for all $v \in \operatorname{Val}_X^\circ$. This is done by Theorem 4.3.5 (notice we do not use any result in this section to prove Theorem 4.3.5 in chapter 4).

Chapter 4

Filtrations and the Delta invariant

4.1 Okounkov bodies

We follow the idea in [Wu21]. Let $\mu : Y \to X$ be a log resolution of X at the vertex x, and set $Y_0 := \mu^{-1}(x) = \sum_{i \in I} b_i E_i$. After possible replacing Y by further blowups at x, one may pick a regular system of parameters x_1, \ldots, x_n for $\mathcal{O}_{Y,y}$ with y the generic point of $\bigcap_{i=1}^n E_i$ and x_i defining E_i . Then by Cohen structure theorem, $\widehat{\mathcal{O}_{Y,y}} \cong \mathbb{C}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$. This gives us a rank n valuation $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n) : \mathcal{O}_{Y,y} - \{0\} \to \mathbb{N}^n$ with $v_1 = \operatorname{ord}_{E_1}$ on Y_1 ,

$$v_i(f) := \operatorname{ord}_{E_i} \left(\frac{f}{\prod_{k < i} x_k^{v_k(f)}} \Big|_{\cap_{j < i} E_j} \right)$$

for $2 \leq i \leq n$, and \mathbb{N}^n equipped with the lexicographic ordering.

As in [Wu21, Lemma 3.1] we have the following Izumi type estimate.

Lemma 4.1.1. There is a constant C > 0 such that $v_i(f) \leq C \operatorname{ord}_0(f)$ for all $f \in R$ and $1 \leq i \leq n$.

Now for each $m \in \mathbb{N}$, define

$$\Gamma_m := v(R_m) \subseteq \mathbb{N}^n, \ \Gamma := \{(x,m) \mid x \in \Gamma_m, m \in \mathbb{N}_+\}.$$

We denote by $\Sigma(\Gamma) \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ the closed convex cone generated by Γ . We define the convex body of $(X = \operatorname{Spec} R, D, \xi_0)$ by

$$\Delta = \Delta \times \{1\} := \Sigma(\Gamma) \cap (\mathbb{R}^n \times \{1\}).$$

We claim this is indeed a local version of Okounkov body.

Lemma 4.1.2. Let Γ be as above. Then Γ satisfies the following conditions:

(1) $\Gamma_0 = \{0\},\$

(2) There exists finitely many $a_i \in \mathbb{N}^n$ such that $(a_i, 1)$ span a subsemigroup $B \subset \mathbb{N}^{n+1}$ containing Γ .

(3) The subgroup generated by Γ in \mathbb{Z}^{n+1} is \mathbb{Z}^{n+1} .

Proof. The first condition is a straight forward check. For the second part, we use the Izumi type estimate.

For the second part, by [BFJ14, Prop 4.8], we have some constant C' > 0 such that $\operatorname{ord}_0(f) \leq C' v_{\xi}(f)$. Then we know for all $0 \leq i \leq n$ and $0 \neq f \in R_m$, $v_i(f) \leq CC'$ where C comes from 4.1.1. So that the vectors $(a_1, \ldots, a_n, 1)$ will span a semigroup containing Γ .

For the last part, we write $x_i = f_i/g_i$ with $f_i, g_i \in R$. Then $v(f_i) - v(g_i) = e_i, 1 \le i \le n$ where $\{e_i\}$ denotes the standard basis for \mathbb{Z}^n . Since $(0, 1) \in \Gamma$, we have that Γ will generate all of \mathbb{Z}^{n+1} .

Now as in [Wu21, Theorem 3.3] we have

Theorem 4.1.3. For any $m \ge 1$, let $\rho_m := \frac{1}{m^n} \sum_{x \in \Gamma_m} \delta_{m^{-1}x}$ be a positive measure on Δ . Then

 $\lim_{m\to\infty}\rho_m = \rho$ weakly, where ρ denotes the Lebesgue measure on Δ . In particular, the limit

$$\operatorname{vol}(\Delta) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{n!}{m^n} \# \Gamma_m = \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{n!}{m^n} \dim_{\mathbb{C}} R_m$$

exists and equals $vol(\xi_0)$.

Follow [BJ17, Lemma 2.2] we have

Lemma 4.1.4. For every $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a $m_0 = m_0(\epsilon) > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\Delta} g d\rho_m \le \int_{\Delta} g d\rho + \epsilon$$

for every $m \ge m_0$ and every concave function $g : \Delta \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying $0 \le g \le 1$. Notice that we require the uniformity in g.

4.2 Concave transform and limit measure

Let Δ be the Okounkov body of (X, D, ξ_0) , and \mathcal{F} be a linearly bounded filtration on R. For $t \geq 0$, we define $\Delta^t \subseteq \Delta$ to be the local Okounkov body associated to R_m^t as in [Wu21, Prop 3.10]. More precisely, let $\Gamma_m^t := v(R_m^t)$, $\Gamma^t := \{(x, m) \mid x \in \Gamma_m, m \in \mathbb{N}_+\}$, and $\Delta^t = \Delta^t \times \{1\} = \Sigma(\Gamma^t) \cap (\mathbb{R}^n \times \{1\})$.

Define $G : \Delta \to \mathbb{R}_+$ to be $x \mapsto \sup\{t \in \mathbb{R}_+ \mid x \in \Delta^t\}$. Then G is a concave, upper continuous function taking values in $[0, T(\mathcal{F})]$.

As in [BJ17], we define the limit measure μ of the filtration \mathcal{F} as the pushforward

$$\mu = G_* \rho = -\frac{d}{dt} \operatorname{vol}(\Delta^t).$$

Thus μ is a positive measure on \mathbb{R}_+ of mass $\operatorname{vol}(\xi_0)$ with support $[0, T(\mathcal{F})]$.

Definition 4.2.1. For a linearly bounded filtration \mathcal{F} , we define the *volume* (or the *S*-invariant) of \mathcal{F} to be

$$S(\mathcal{F}) := \frac{n!}{\operatorname{vol}(\xi_0)} \int_0^{+\infty} \operatorname{vol}(\Delta^t) dt = \frac{n!}{\operatorname{vol}(\xi_0)} \int_0^{+\infty} t d\mu(t) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(\Delta)} \int_{\Delta} G d\rho.$$

Jumping Numbers Given a filtration \mathcal{F} on R, consider the *jumping numbers*

$$0 \le a_{\alpha,1} \le \dots \le a_{\alpha,N_{\alpha}} = \langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle T_{\alpha}(\mathcal{F})$$

defined for $\alpha \in \Lambda$ by

$$a_{\alpha,j} = a_{\alpha,j}(\mathcal{F}) = \inf\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+ \mid \operatorname{codim} \mathcal{F}^\lambda R_\alpha \ge j\}$$

for $1 \leq j \leq N_{\alpha}$.

For R_m we also define the jumping numbers

$$0 \le a_{m,1} \le \dots \le a_{m,N_m} = mT_m(\mathcal{F})$$

for $m \in \mathbb{N}$ by

$$a_{m,j} = a_{m,j}(\mathcal{F}) = \inf\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+ \mid \operatorname{codim} \mathcal{F}^{\lambda} R_m \ge j\}$$

for $1 \leq j \leq N_m$.

We define the rescaled sum of the jumping numbers:

$$S_{\alpha}(\mathcal{F}) := \frac{1}{\langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle N_{\alpha}} \sum_{j=1}^{N_{\alpha}} a_{\alpha,j}, S_m(\mathcal{F}) := \frac{1}{mN_m} \sum_{j=1}^{N_m} a_{m,j}$$

for $\alpha \in \Lambda, m \in \mathbb{N}$.

Define a positive measure $\mu_m = \mu_m^{\mathcal{F}}$ on \mathbb{R}_+ by

$$\mu_m = \frac{1}{m^n} \sum_j \delta_{m^{-1}a_{m,j}} = -\frac{1}{m^n} \frac{d}{dt} \dim \mathcal{F}^{mt} R_m$$

We have the following result as in [BC11, Theorem 1.11], [Wu21, Theorem 3.12]

Theorem 4.2.2. Let \mathcal{F} be a linearly bounded filtration on R, then we have

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \mu_m = \mu$$

in the weak sense of measures on \mathbb{R}_+ .

Proof. The proof goes along the same lines as in [BC11, Theorem 1.11]. Notice that $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{F}^{\lambda} R_m = j$ if and only if $a_{m,N_m-j} \leq \lambda < a_{m,N_m-j+1}$. So we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}\dim \mathcal{F}^{\lambda}R_m = -\sum_j \delta_{a_{m,j}}$$

in the sense of distributions. Let $g_m(t) = \frac{1}{m^n} \dim R_m^t$. By 4.1.3 and the Okounkov body construction, we have

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} g_m(t) = g(t) := \operatorname{vol} \Delta(R^t_{\bullet}),$$

for $0 \le t < T(\mathcal{F})$. Since g_m are uniformly bounded above, $g_m \to g$ in L^1_{loc} by dominated convergence, and hence $-\mu_m = g'_m \to g' = -\mu$ as distributions.

Then we can rewrite the $S_m(\mathcal{F})$ as

$$S_m(\mathcal{F}) = \frac{1}{mN_m} \sum_j a_{m,j} = \frac{m^n}{N_m} \int_0^{+\infty} t d\mu_m(t).$$

Lemma 4.2.3. Let \mathcal{F} be a linearly bounded filtration on R, we have

$$S_m(\mathcal{F}) \le \frac{m^n}{N_m} \int_{\Delta} G d\rho_m,$$

and furthermore we have

$$S(\mathcal{F}) = \lim_{m \to \infty} S_m(\mathcal{F}).$$

Proof. The limit comes directly from the above theorem. For the inequality, we choose a basis $s_1, s_2, \ldots, s_{N_m}$ of R_m such that $v(s_j) = a_{m,j}, 1 \leq j \leq N_m$. Let $r_j := v(s_j)$ where $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ comes from our construction of the Okounkov body in section 2.6. Notice v has transcendence degree 0, we have $\Gamma_m = \{r_1, \ldots, r_m\}$. So

$$\frac{m^n}{N_m} \int_{\Delta} G d\rho_m = \frac{1}{N_m} \sum_{j=1}^{N_m} G(m^{-1}r_j)$$

and

$$S_m(\mathcal{F}) = \frac{1}{N_m} \sum_{j=1}^{N_m} m^{-1} a_{m,j}.$$

So it suffices to show $G(m^{-1}r_j) \ge m^{-1}a_{m,j}$ for $1 \le j \ leq N_m$. This is by the definition of G. \Box

Proposition 4.2.4. For any $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $m_0 = m_0(\epsilon) > 0$, such that

$$S_m(\mathcal{F}) \le (1+\epsilon)S(\mathcal{F}).$$

Proof. Let $V := \operatorname{vol}(\Delta)$. Take $\epsilon' > 0$ such that $(V^{-1} + \epsilon')(V + (n+1)\epsilon') \leq 1 + \epsilon$. Since $0 \leq G \leq T(\mathcal{F})$. By 4.1.4, take $g = G/T(\mathcal{F})$ we could find some m_0 such that

$$\int_{\Delta} Gd\rho_m \leq \int_{\Delta} Gd\rho + \epsilon' T(\mathcal{F}) = VS(\mathcal{F}) + \epsilon' T(\mathcal{F}) \leq (V + (n+1)\epsilon')S(\mathcal{F})$$

for $m \ge m_0$. By 4.1.3 we could also assume $\frac{m^n}{N_m} \le V^{-1} + \epsilon'$ for $m \ge m_0$. The above lemma gives us

$$S_m(\mathcal{F}) \le \frac{m^n}{N_m} \int_{\Delta} G d\rho_m \le (V^{-1} + \epsilon')(V + (n+1)\epsilon')S(\mathcal{F}) \le (1+\epsilon)S(\mathcal{F})$$

for $m \geq m_0$.

4.3 The Delta invariant via filtration

Let v be a T-invariant valuation on log Fano cone (X, D, ξ_0) . Then we have the filtration $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}_v$ on R by $\mathcal{F}^x R_\alpha = \{f \in R_\alpha \mid v(f) \ge x\}$. We also write $\mathcal{F}^x R_m = \{f \in R_m \mid v(f) \ge x\}$. We write $S_\alpha(v) = S_\alpha(\mathcal{F}_v), S_m(v) = S_m(\mathcal{F}_v).$

Definition 4.3.1. For any $\alpha \in \Lambda$, we say an effective divisor *B* is an α -basis type divisor, if there exists a basis $s_1, \ldots, s_{N_{\alpha}}$ of R_{α} , such that

$$B = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N_{\alpha}} \{s_i = 0\}}{\langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle N_{\alpha}}$$

Similarly for any $m \in \mathbb{N}$, we say an effective divisor B is an *m*-basis type divisor, if there exists a basis s_1, \ldots, s_{N_m} of R_m , such that

$$B = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N_m} \{s_i = 0\}}{mN_m}$$

Definition 4.3.2. For any $\alpha \in \Lambda$, we define

 $\delta_{\alpha} = \inf\{ \operatorname{lct}(X, D; B) \mid B \text{ is an } \alpha \text{-basis type divisor } \}$

For any $m \in \mathbb{N}$, we define

 $\delta_m = \inf\{\operatorname{lct}(X, D; B) \mid B \text{ is an m-basis type divisor } \}$

here lct(X, D; B) is the log-canonical threshold, see [CS08].

Proposition 4.3.3. For any $\alpha \in \lambda$, we have

$$\delta_{\alpha} = \inf_{v \in \operatorname{Val}_{X}^{\circ}} \frac{A_{X,D}(v)}{S_{\alpha}(v)} = \inf_{E} \frac{A_{X,D}(\operatorname{ord}_{E})}{S_{\alpha}(\operatorname{ord}_{E})}$$

where E runs through all the T-invariant prime divisors over X. Similarly, for any $m \in M(R)$, we have

$$\delta_m = \inf_{v \in \operatorname{Val}_X^\circ} \frac{A_{X,D}(v)}{S_m(v)} = \inf_E \frac{A_{X,D}(\operatorname{ord}_E)}{S_m(\operatorname{ord}_E)}$$

where E runs through all the T-invariant prime divisors over X.

We need a simple observation.

Lemma 4.3.4. For any $\alpha \in \Lambda$, and any $v \in \operatorname{Val}_X^\circ$, we have

$$S_{\alpha}(v) = \max_{s_j} \frac{1}{\langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle N_{\alpha}} \sum_{j=1}^{N_{\alpha}} v(s_j),$$

where the maximum is over all bases $s_1, \ldots, s_{N_{\alpha}}$ of R_{α} . The similar result holds for R_m .

Proof. For any basis $s_1, \ldots, s_{N_{\alpha}}$ of R_{α} , we may assume $v(s_1) \leq \cdots \leq v(s_{N_{\alpha}})$. Then $v(s_j) \leq a_{alpha,j}$ by the definition of the jumping numbers. Thus $(\langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle N_{\alpha})^{-1} \sum_j v(s_j) \leq (\langle \alpha, \xi_0 \rangle N_{\alpha})^{-1} \sum_j a_{\alpha,j} = S_{\alpha}(v)$. On the other hand, if we pick basis s_j such that $v(s_j) = a_{\alpha,j}$, then the equality holds. The case of R_m is the same.

proof of Proposition 4.3.3. Recall that (see [CS08])

$$lct(X,D;B) = \inf_{v} \frac{A_{X,D}(v)}{v(B)}$$

So we have

$$\delta_{\alpha} = \inf\{\inf_{v} \frac{A_{X,D}(v)}{v(B)} \mid B \text{ of } \alpha \text{-basis type divisor } \}$$

where the second infimum runs through all divisorial valuations $v \in \operatorname{Val}_X^\circ$. Switching the two infimum and then Lemma 4.3.4 implies the result.

Theorem 4.3.5. The limit $\lim_{m\to\infty} \delta_m$ exists and equals to $\delta(X, D, \xi_0)$ we defined in Definition 1.0.2. Furthermore,

$$\delta(X, D, \xi_0) = \inf_v \frac{A_{X,D}(v)}{S_{X,D}(v)} = \inf_E \frac{A(\operatorname{ord}_E)}{S(\operatorname{ord}_E)}.$$

where E runs through all the T-invariant prime divisors over X.

Proof. Let $\delta := \limsup_{m} \delta_{m}$. By Proposition 4.2.4 and Proposition 4.3.3,

$$\limsup_{m} \delta_m \le \inf_{v} \frac{A_{X,D}(v)}{S_{X,D}(v)}$$

On the other hand, for any $\epsilon > 0$, we could find some $m_0 = m_0(\epsilon)$ such that $S_m(v) \le (1 + \epsilon)S(v)$ for all $v \in \operatorname{Val}_X^\circ$ and $m \ge m_0$. Therefore

$$\delta = \limsup_{m} \delta_m = \limsup_{m} \inf_{v} \frac{A(v)}{S_m(v)} \ge \frac{1}{1+\epsilon} \inf_{v} \frac{A(v)}{S(v)}.$$

Hence $\delta = \lim_{m \to \infty} \delta_m$. By Lemma 4.2.3 and Proposition 4.3.3, it is straightforward to check that $\delta = \delta(X, D, \xi_0)$. The same argument in the proof of Proposition 4.3.3 shows

$$\inf_{v} \frac{A_{X,D}(v)}{S_{X,D}(v)} = \inf_{E} \frac{A(\operatorname{ord}_{E})}{S(\operatorname{ord}_{E})}$$

Theorem 4.3.5 together with Chapter 3.4 completes the proof of Theorem 1.0.3.

•

Chapter 5

Valuations computing the stability threshold

In the log Fano case, [BJ17] showed that there exists a valuation computing $\delta(X, D)$ if the ground filed k is uncountable, and in [BLX19] when $\delta(X, D) \leq 1$ for a general ground field, where it is also shown that in this case any minimizer is an lc place of a Q-complement. In [LXZ21] the bound is extended to $\frac{n+1}{n}$. We follow the idea of [LXZ21] here.

Definition 5.0.1. Let \mathcal{F} be a filtration on R. A basis $(s_1, \ldots, s_{N_\alpha})$ of R_α is said to be *compatible* with \mathcal{F} if $\mathcal{F}^{\lambda}R_{\alpha}$ is spanned by some of the s_i 's for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$. An α -basis type divisor $B = \frac{1}{N_\alpha} \sum_{i=1}^{N_\alpha} (s_i = 0)$ is said to be *compatible with* \mathcal{F} if $(s_1, \ldots, s_{N_\alpha})$ is compatible with \mathcal{F} . By abuse of notation, we say that an α -basis type divisor B is compatible with a valuation v if B is compatible with the filtration induced by v on R.

Similarly, a basis (s_1, \ldots, s_{N_m}) of R_m is said to be *compatible with* \mathcal{F} if $\mathcal{F}^{\lambda}R_m$ is spanned by some of the s_i 's for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$. An *m*-basis type divisor $B = \frac{1}{N_m} \sum_{i=1}^{N_m} (s_i = 0)$ is said to be *compatible with* \mathcal{F} if (s_1, \ldots, s_{N_m}) is compatible with \mathcal{F} .

We recall a useful fact. The proof is the same as in [AZ20]

Lemma 5.0.2. Let \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} be two filtrations on R. Then for any $\alpha \in \Lambda$ (resp. $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$), there exists an α -basis type divisor (resp. m-basis type divisor) that is compatible with both \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} .

We want to show that when $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) < \frac{n+1}{n}$, the valuation computing δ is an lc place of some \mathbb{Q} -complement, and that complement satisfies some further technical properties (which will called *special complement*).

Lemma 5.0.3. Let (X, D, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity of dimension n and $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) = \delta < \frac{n+1}{n}$. Let v be a T-equivariant valuation computing δ . Let $\alpha \in (0, \min\{\frac{\delta}{n+1}, 1 - \frac{n\delta}{n+1}\}) \cap \mathbb{Q}$. Then for any effective divisor $B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(K_X + D)$, there exists some \mathbb{Q} -complement Γ of (X, D) such that $\Gamma \geq \alpha B$ and v is an lc place of $(X, D + \Gamma)$.

Theorem 5.0.4. Let (X, D, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity of dimension n, with $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) < \frac{n+1}{n}$. Then,

(1) there exists a T-equivariant valuation computing $\delta(X, D, \xi_0)$; and

(2) there exists a positive integer N depending only on dim(X), ξ_0 and the coefficients of D such that for any T-equivariant valuation v computing $\delta(X, D, \xi_0)$, there exists an N-complement B of (X, D) which satisfies that v is an lc place of (X, D + B).

Proof. We first show (1). Recall 2.1.4 we know that there exists some $u_0 \in M_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that $K_X + D = \pi^* H + div(\chi^{-u_0})$ and H is a principal \mathbb{Q} -divisor. For any sufficiently divisible $m \in \mathbb{N}$, let $\delta_m := \delta_{mu_0}(X, D, \xi_0)$, and let E_m be a divisor over X such that $\frac{A_{(X,D)}(E_m)}{S_{mu_0}(E_m)} = \delta_m$. Fix a sufficiently large positive integer m_0 and let H_m be a smooth divisor (f = 0) for some $f \in R_{m_0u_0}$ that does not contain the center of E_m . For any such m, by 5.0.2 we can find some mu_0 -basis type divisor B_m which is compatible with both E_m and H_m . We could write $B_m = \Gamma_m + a_m H_m$ where $\operatorname{Supp}(\Gamma_m)$ does not contain H_m . We notice that the coefficient a_m does not depend on the choice of H_m and moreover $\lim_{m\to\infty} a_m = \frac{1}{m_0(n+1)}$. Now we know

$$\operatorname{lct}(X, D; B_m) \le \frac{A_{(X,D)}(E_m)}{\operatorname{ord}_{E_m}(B_m)} = \frac{A_{X,D}(E_m)}{S_m(E_m)} = \delta_m,$$

where $\operatorname{ord}_{E_m}(D_m) = S_m(E_m)$ comes from the B_m is compatible with E_m . By definition of δ_m we know that $\operatorname{lct}(X, D; B_m) \ge \delta_m$ and we know $\operatorname{lct}(X, D; B_m) = \delta_m$, and that the corresponding log canonical threshold is computed by E_m . Since H_m does not contain the center of E_m we know that $(X, D + \delta_m \Gamma_m)$ is still lc and E_m is an lc place of this pair.

Notice that $\lim_{m\to\infty} \delta_m = \delta(X, D, \xi_0) < \frac{n+1}{n}$. So for sufficiently large m we get

$$\delta_m \Gamma_m = \delta_m (B_m - a_m H_m) \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -\lambda_m (K_X + D)$$

for $lambda = \delta_m(1 - m_0 a_m) \in (0, 1)$. Thus E_m is an lc place of a Q-complement. The rest of the proof is the same as in [BLX19, Theorem 4.6]: we know that E_m is indeed an lc place of an N-complement for some N that only depends on $\dim(X), \xi_0$ and the coefficients of D. Therefore, after passing to a subsequence, we can find an N-complement B, together with lc places F_m of (X, D + B), such that $\frac{A_{X,D}(E_m)}{S_{X,D}(E_m)} = \frac{A_{X,D}(F_m)}{S_{X,D}(F_m)}$ for all sufficiently divisible $m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$. If we take v to be the limit of $(A_{X,D}(F_m))^{-1} \operatorname{ord}_{F_m}$ in $\mathcal{DMR}(X, D + B)$ then v computes $\delta(X, D, \xi_0)$ as

$$\frac{A_{X,D}(v)}{S_{X,D}(v)} = \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{A_{X,D}(F_m)}{S_{X,D}(F_m)} = \lim_{m \to \infty} \frac{A_{X,D}(E_m)}{S_{X,D}(E_m)} = \lim_{m \to \infty} = \delta(X,D).$$

For (2), we know from 5.0.3 there exists some Q-complement Γ such that v is an lc place of Γ . There exists a log smooth model $(Y, E) \to (X, D+B)$ such that every component $E_i(i = 1, \ldots, M)$ of E is an lc place of $(X, D + \Gamma)$ and every prime divisor on Y with log discrepancy 0 with respect to $(X, D + \Gamma)$ is contained in E. So we know $v \in QM(Y, E)$. By [BCHM10, Corollary 1.4.3], there exists a Q-factorial birational model $\mu : \tilde{X} \to X$ that extracts exactly the divisors E_i and $Y \dashrightarrow \tilde{X}$ is isomorphic at the generic point of any component of all non-empty intersections of $\bigcap_{i \in I} E_i$ for $I \subset \{1, \ldots, M\}$. Let $a_i = \operatorname{coeff}_{E_i}(D)$ if E_i is a prime divisor on X, otherwise set $a_i = 0$. Then we can argue as in the proof opf [BLX19, Theorem 3.5]: $(\tilde{X}, \mu_*^{-1}D + \sum_{i=1}^M (1-a_i)E_i)$ has a Q-complement, therefore also has an N-complement, whose pushforward on X gives an *N*-complement *B* of (X, D) that has all E_i as lc places. In particular, it also has v as an lc place.

Chapter 6

Finite generation

In this chapter we prove the Higer Rank Finite Generation Conjecture for log Fano cone singularities.

Theorem 6.0.1. Let (X, D, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity of dimension n, X = Spec(R). Assume that $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) < \frac{n+1}{n}$. Then for any valuation v that computes $\delta(X, D, \xi_0)$, the associated graded ring $\text{gr}_{\mathcal{F}_v} R$ is finitely generated.

6.1 Special complement

We follow the idea in [LXZ21]. We define the notion of special complement, and show that the existence of a special \mathbb{Q} -complement and an lc place v implies the finite generation of the associated graded ring $\operatorname{gr}_{v} R$.

Definition 6.1.1. Given a log Fano cone (X, D, ξ_0) with T- action. A (T-equivariant) \mathbb{Q} complement Γ of (X, D, ξ_0) is called *special complement* with respect to a T-equivariant log smooth
model $\pi : (Y, E) \to (X, D)$ if $\Gamma_Y = \pi_*^{-1}\Gamma \geq G$ for some effective ample \mathbb{Q} -divisor G on Y whose
support does not contain any stratum of (Y, E). Here a log smooth model means a log resolution

 $\pi: Y \to (X, D)$ and a reduced divisor E on Y such that $E + Ex(\pi) + \pi_*^{-1}D$ has simple normal crossing support. Any valuation $v \in QM(Y, E) \cap \mathcal{DMR}(X, D + \Gamma)$ is called a *monomial lc place* of the special \mathbb{Q} -complement Γ with respect to (Y, E).

Lemma 6.1.2. Let (X, D, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity of dimension n with $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) < \frac{n+1}{n}$. Let v be a T-invariant valuation computing δ . Then there exists a T-invariant log smooth model $\pi : (Y, E) \to (X, D)$ and a special \mathbb{Q} -complement $0 \leq \Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(K_X + D)$ with respect to (Y, E), such that $v \in \mathrm{QM}(Y, E) \cap \mathcal{DMR}(X, D + \Gamma)$.

Proof. Because v is quasi-monomial and T-invariant, we could find a T-invariant log smooth model $\pi : (Y, E) \to (X, D)$ whose exceptional locus supports a π -ample divisor F such that $v \in QM(Y, E)$. Choose some small $\epsilon > 0$, set $L = -\pi^*(K_X + D) + \epsilon F$ and let G be a general divisor in the \mathbb{Q} -linear system $|L|_{\mathbb{Q}}$ whose support does not contain any stratum of (Y, E). Let $B = \pi_*G \sim -(K_X + D)$ and let $\alpha < \min\{\frac{\delta}{n+1}, 1 - \frac{n\delta}{n+1}\}$ be a fixed rational positive number. By 5.0.3, we have some T-invariant complement Γ of (X, D) such that $\Gamma \ge \alpha B$ and v is an lc place of $(X, D + \Gamma)$. Replace G by αG then Γ is indeed a special \mathbb{Q} -complement with respect to (Y, E).

Assume $\operatorname{gr}_v R$ is finitely generated for some v, we define $X_v := \operatorname{Proj} \operatorname{gr}_v R$ and D_v is the induced degeneration of D to X_v . More precisely, suppose $D = \sum_{i=1}^l a_i D_i$ where D_i is a prime divisor on X and $a_i \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}$. Let $I_{D_i} \subseteq R$ be the graded ideal of D_i . Let $\operatorname{in}(I_{D_i}) \subseteq \operatorname{gr}_v R$ be the initial ideal of I_{D_i} . Then $D_v := \sum_{i=1}^l a_i D_{v,i}$, where $D_{v,i}$ is the divisorial part of the closed subscheme $V(\operatorname{in}(I_{D_i})) \subseteq X_v$. So that $D_{v,i}$ and $V(\operatorname{in}(I_{D_i}))$ coincide away from a codimension 2 subset of X_v .

Theorem 6.1.3. Let (X, D, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity. Let v be a T-equivariant quasimonomial valuation on X. The following are equivalent.

(1) The associated graded ring $\operatorname{gr}_{v} R$ is finitely generated and the central fiber (X_{v}, D_{v}) of the induced degeneration is klt.

(2) The valuation v is a monomial lc place of a special \mathbb{Q} -complement Γ with respect to some T-equivariant log smooth model (Y, E). Theorem 6.1.3 together with Lemma 6.1.2 immediately implies Theorem 6.0.1. The proof of the easier side of Theorem 6.1.3, i.e. $(1) \implies (2)$ is the same as in [LXZ21]. To show the harder side, we need

Theorem 6.1.4. Let (X, D, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity, and let $0 \leq \Gamma \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(K_X + D)$ be a *T*-equivariant \mathbb{Q} -complement. Let v_0 be an lc place of $(X, D + \Gamma)$ and let $\Sigma \subseteq \mathcal{DMR}(X, D + \Gamma)$ be the minimal rational PL subspace containing v_0 induced by a fixed log smooth model of (X, D). Then the following are equivalent.

- (1) The associated graded ring $\operatorname{gr}_{v_0} R$ is finitely generated.
- (2) There exists an open neighborhood $v_0 \in U \subseteq \Sigma$ such that the set

$$\{(X_v, D_v) \mid v \in U(\mathbb{Q}) := U \cap \Sigma(\mathbb{Q})\}$$

is bounded.

(3) The S-invariant function

$$v \mapsto S_{X,D}(v)$$

is linear on a neighborhood of v_0 in Σ .

6.2 Estimate of alpha invariants

By Lemma 6.1.2 and Theorem 6.1.4, to prove Theorem 6.1.3, we only need to show the boundedness of $\{(X_v, D_v) \mid v \in U(\mathbb{Q})\}$ for some open neighborhood $U \subseteq \Sigma$. This could be proven by showing a lower positive bound of the alpha invariants.

Theorem 6.2.1. [Jia20] Fix positive integers n, C and three positive numbers V, α_0, δ_0 . If we consider the set cal P of all n-dimensional log Fano pairs $\{(X, D)\}$ such that $C \cdot D$ is integral, $(-K_X - D)^n = V$ and $\alpha(X, D) \ge \alpha_0$ (resp. $\delta(X, D) \ge \delta_0$), then \mathcal{P} is bounded.

Notice that this boundedness property is independent from the choice of ξ_0 , so we could assume ξ_0 is rational, and take the quotient $((X, D) - \{x\})/\langle \xi_0 \rangle$. We cannot guarantee a simple normal crossing pair, so we need to generalize the calculation in [LXZ21] to the toroidal case.

Theorem 6.2.2. Let (X, D) be a log Fano pair. Let Γ be a special complement with respect to a resolution $\pi : (Y, E) \to (X, D)$. Let $K \subset \mathcal{DMR}(X, D + \Gamma)$ be a compact subset that is contained in the interior of a simplicial cone in QM(Y, E). Then there exists some constant $\alpha_0 > 0$ such that for all rational points $v \in K$, the alpha invariant $\alpha(X_v, D_v)$ of the induced degenerations (X_v, D_v) is bounded from below by α_0 .

Lemma 6.2.3. Let v be a divisorial valuation such that $\operatorname{gr}_{v} R$ is finitely generated and let $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ be a rational number. Then $\alpha(X_{v}, D_{v}) \geq \alpha$ if and only if for all $0 \leq B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(K_{X} + D)$, there exists some $0 \leq B' \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(K_{X} + D)$ such that $(X, D + \alpha B + (1 - \alpha)B')$ is lc and have v as an lc place.

We call such B' an (α, v) -complement of B.

Proof. We have a \mathbb{G}_m -action on (X_v, D_v) . Taking the limit under the \mathbb{G}_m -action we see that any effective divisor $G \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(K_{X_v} + D_v)$ degenerates to some \mathbb{G}_m -invariant divisor G_0 . Using the semicontinuity of log canonical threshold we have $\operatorname{lct}(X_v, D_v; G) \geq \operatorname{lct}(X_v, D_v; G_0)$, and so $\alpha(X_v, D_v) \geq \alpha$ α if and only if $\operatorname{lct}(X_v, D_v; G_0) \geq \alpha$ for all \mathbb{G}_m -invariant divisors $G_0 \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(K_{X_v} + D_v)$. Any such G_0 is also the specialization of some divisor $0 \leq D \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(K_X + D)$ on X, and $\operatorname{lct}(X_v, D_v; G_0) \geq \alpha$ means that v induces a weakly special degeneration of $(X, D + \alpha B)$. By [BLX19, Theorem 3.5], this is equivalent to say, for all sufficiently small $\epsilon \in \mathbb{Q}$, the valuation v is an lc place of a \mathbb{Q} -complement of the klt pair $(X, D + (\alpha - \epsilon)B)$, so that B has an $(\alpha - \epsilon, v)$ -complement.

It suffices to show this is equivalent to say B has an (α, v) -complement. We could write $v = c \cdot \operatorname{ord}_E$. Because E is an lc place of a \mathbb{Q} -complement, by [BCHM10], there exists a birational model $\pi: Y \to X$ that extracts E as the only exceptional divisor, and Y is of Fano type. Moreover,

if follows from the existence of $(\alpha - \epsilon, v)$ -complement that the pair $(Y, \pi_*^{-1}(D + (\alpha - \epsilon)B) \vee E)$ has a \mathbb{Q} -complement for all sufficiently small ϵ . By [HMX14] this implies that $(Y, \pi_*^{-1}(D + \alpha B) \vee E)$ also has a \mathbb{Q} -complement, and the pushforward of X is an (α, v) -complement of D.

Next we want to construct the (α, v) -complements for some uniform constant α . We fix an effective ample Q-divisor G on Y that does not contain any stratum of E and that $\Gamma_Y \geq G$. For any divisorial valuation $v \in \mathcal{DMR}(X, D + \Gamma) \cap \mathrm{QM}(Y, E)$, let $\mu : Z \to Y$ be the corresponding weighted blowup, F the exceptional divisor and (Z, D_Z) , (Y, D_Y) to be the crepant pullbacks. Let $D^+ = D_Z \vee 0 \vee F$. Notice that (Z, D^+) is plt. By adjunction we have $K_F + \Phi = (K_Z + D^+)|_F$. Set

$$L := \mu^* \pi^* (K_X + D) - A_{X,D}(F) \cdot F.$$

Since $v = c \cdot \operatorname{ord}_F$ is an lc place of $(X, D + \Gamma)$, and F is not contained in the support of $\mu^* \pi^* \Gamma - A_{X,D}(F) \cdot F \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} L$, so the \mathbb{Q} -linear system $|L|_{\mathbb{Q}} \neq \emptyset$ and we define

$$\alpha_v := \operatorname{lct}(F, \Phi; |L_F|_{\mathbb{Q}}).$$

$$\epsilon_v := \sup\{t \ge 0 \mid \mu^* G - t A_{X,D}(F) \cdot F \text{ is nef}\}.$$

We have $\epsilon_v > 0$ because -F is μ -ample, and for any $0 < t < \epsilon_v$ the divisor $\mu^* G - t A_{X,D}(F) F$ is ample.

Lemma 6.2.4. Given constants a, b > 0, there exists some constant $\alpha > 0$ depending only on $a, b, (X, D), \Gamma$ such that $\alpha(X_v, D_v) \ge \alpha$ if $\alpha_v > a$ and $\epsilon_v > b$.

Proof. According to Lemma 6.2.3, it suffices to find some constant $\alpha > 0$ such that (α, v) complement exists for any effective divisor $B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(K_X + D)$.

We claim it suffices to find an (α, v) -complement for divisors B such that $v(B) = A_{X,D}(v)$. If so, take a sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$ such that $G + \epsilon \pi^*(K_X + D)$ is ample. Then $T(G; v) \ge \epsilon \cdot T_{X,D}(v)$, and that $T_{X,D}(v) = T(\pi^*\Gamma; v) \ge v(\pi^*\Gamma - G) + T(G; v) \ge v(\Gamma) + \epsilon \cdot T_{X,D}(v) = A_{X,D}(v) + \epsilon T_{X,D}(v)$. So $(1 - \epsilon)T_{X,D}(v) \ge A_{X,D}(v)$. Notice that by definition of α invariant, we know $\alpha(X, D)T_{X,D}(v) \le A_{X,D}(v)$.

Since $0 < \alpha \leq \frac{A}{T} \leq 1 - \epsilon$, so we could find some $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ that only depends on ϵ and $\alpha(X, D)$, such that for any $0 \leq p \leq T$, we can find some $0 \leq q < T$ and some $r > \lambda$, such that rp + (1 - r)q = A. Therefore we could find some constant $0 < \lambda < 1$ that depending only on ϵ and $\alpha(X, D)$ such that for any effective divisor $B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(K_X + D)$, there always exists an effective divisor $B' \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(K_X + D)$ and $r \geq \lambda$ such that $rv(B) + (1 - r)v(B') = A_{X,D}(v)$.

If an (α, v) -complement exists for rB + (1 - r)B', then $(\alpha\lambda, v)$ -complement exists for B. Therefore we proved the claim.

Now fix a sufficiently small t > 0, and set s := (1 - a)t/(1 - t) < b, then we know that $\mu^*G - sA_{X,D}(F) \cdot F$ is ample. Fix an effective divisor $B \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(K_X + D)$ with $v(B) = A_{X,D}(v)$. Let H' be a general member of the \mathbb{Q} -linear system $|\mu^*G - sA_{X,D}(F)F|_{\mathbb{Q}}$, and let $H = \mu_*H'$.

We now show that the pair $(Y, D_Y + a\pi^*B + \frac{1-t}{t}H)$ is lc along $\mu(F)$ and has F as its unique lc place.

Notice that $A_{Y,D_Y}(F) - \operatorname{ord}_F(a\pi^*B + \frac{1-t}{t}H) = A_{X,D}(F) - aA_{X,D}(F) - (1-a)A_{X,D}(F) = 0$. Let $B' = \mu^*\pi^*B - \operatorname{ord}_F(B)F = \mu^*\pi^*B - A_{X,D}(F)F \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} L$. Since $(F, \Phi + aB'|_F)$ is kle and so we know (because H is general) $(F, \Phi + aB'|_F + \frac{1-t}{t}H'|_F)$ is also klt. By inversion of adjunction, we know $(Z, D^+ + aB' + \frac{1-t}{t}H')$ is plt along F. Since $D^+ \geq D_Z \vee F$, we deduce that $(Z, D_Z \vee F + aB' + \frac{1-t}{t}H')$ is also plt along F. Then we know

$$K_Z + D_Z \vee F + aB' + \frac{1-t}{t}H' = \mu'(K_Y + D_Y + a\pi^*B + \frac{1-t}{t}H),$$

so that $Y, D_Y + a\pi^*B + \frac{1-t}{t}H$ is lc along $\mu(F)$ and F is the only lc place.

Similarly we know

$$(Y, D_Y + t(a\pi^*B + \frac{1-t}{t}H) + (1-t)(\pi^*\Gamma - G)) = (Y, D_Y + at\pi^*B + (1-t)(\pi^*\Gamma - G + H))$$

is lc along $\mu(F)$ and F is the only lc place of the pair in a neighborhood of $\mu(F)$. So that $\mu(F)$ is a connected component of the non-klt locus of the pair. Since $K_Y + D_Y + at\pi^*B + (1-t)(\pi^*\Gamma - G+H) = \pi^*(K_X + D + atB + (1-t)(\Gamma - \pi_*G + \pi^*H)$, so $(X, D + atB + (1-t)(\pi^*\Gamma = \pi_*G + \pi_*H))$ is lc along $\pi(\mu(F))$. By Kollár-Shokurov connectedness theorem, we know $\pi(\mu(F))$ is a connected component of its non-klt locus.

Similarly we know

$$-(K_X + D + atB + (1 - t)(\Gamma - \pi_*G + \pi_*H)) \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(1 - a)t(K_X + D)$$

is also ample. So we know $(X, D + atB + (1 - t)(\Gamma - \pi_*G + \pi_*H))$ is lc everywhere by Kollár-Shokurov connectedness theorem. Notice that $v = c \cdot \operatorname{ord}_F$ is an lc place of $(X, D + atB + (1 - t)(\Gamma - \pi_*G + \pi_*H))$, so we could add some effective general divisor $B' \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -(1 - a)t(K_X + D)$ to the pair and so that B has an (at, v)-complement. Here t only depends on a, b.

Lemma 6.2.5. Use the same notation as above. Let $K \subseteq \mathcal{DMR}(X, D + \Gamma)$ be a compact subset contained in the interior of some simplicial cone in QM(Y, E). Then there exists some constants a > 0 such that $\alpha_v > a$ for all divisorial valuations $v \in K$.

Proof. Let $E_i(1 \le i \le r)$ be the irreducible components of E, and that $W = \bigcap_{i=1}^r E_i$ is the common center of valuations in K on Y. Any divisorial valuation $v \in K$ corresponds to a weighted blowup at W with weight $wt(E_i) = a_i$ for some $a_i \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$, and we could assume $gcd(a_i) = 1$. Notice that K is compact, so we could find some constant C > 0 such that $\frac{a_i}{a_j} < C$ for all $1 \le i, j \le r$.

In an open neighborhood of a point $x \in W$, if E_i is given by $(e_i = 0)$, we set \mathcal{I}_d generated by

monomials $e_1^{d_1} \dots e_r^{d_r}$ such that $\sum_i a_i d_i \geq d$. Then the weighted blowup is given by $\operatorname{Proj}_{\mathcal{O}_Y}(\mathcal{O}_Y \oplus \mathcal{I}_1 \oplus \dots)$. The exceptional divisor F is a weighted projective space bundle over W with fiber F_0 isomorphic to $(\mathbb{A}^r - \{0\})/\mathbb{G}_m$ with the action $\lambda \cdot (y_1, \dots, y_r) = (\lambda^{a_1}y_1, \dots, \lambda^{a_r}y_r)$. Let $q_i := \gcd(a_1, \dots, \hat{a_i}, \dots, a_r)$, and $q = q_1 \dots q_r$, $a'_i = \frac{a_i q_i}{q}$. Then $F_0 \cong \mathbb{P}(a'_1, \dots, a'_r)$.

Let $c_i = A_{X,D}(E_i) > 0, b_i = \max\{0, \operatorname{ord}_{E_i}(D_Y)\} < 1$, then we have

$$A_{X,D}(F) = \sum_{i=1}^{r} a_i A_{X,D}(E_i) = a_1 c_1 + \dots + a_r c_r.$$

Let $L_{F_0} := L|_{F_0} \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} \frac{A_{X,D}(F)}{q} L_0$ where L_0 is the class of $\mathcal{O}(1)$ on $\mathbb{P}(a'_1, \ldots, a'_r)$. We define $\Phi_{F_0} = \Phi|_{F_0} = \sum_{i=1}^r \frac{q_i - 1 + b_i}{q_i} \{x_i = 0\}$, where x_i are the weighted homogeneous coordinates on $\mathbb{P}(a'_1, \ldots, a'_r)$. Let

$$\mathfrak{b}_{m} := \mu_{*}\mathcal{O}_{Z}(-mF)/\mu_{*}\mathcal{O}_{Z}(-(m+1)F) \cong \bigoplus \mathcal{O}_{W}(-\sum_{i=1}^{\prime} m_{i}E_{i}),$$

where the direct sum runs over all $(m_1, \ldots, m_r) \in \mathbb{N}^r$ such that $\sum_{i=1}^r a_i m_i = m$.

For any $m \in \mathbb{N}$, such that mL is Cartier, we have

$$\mu_*\mathcal{O}_F(mL) \cong \mathcal{O}_Y(-m\pi^*(K_X+D)) \otimes \mu_*\mathcal{O}_Z(-mA_{X,D}(F)F)/\mu_*\mathcal{O}_Z(-(mA_{X,D}(F)+1)F).$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$\mu_*\mathcal{O}_F(mL) \cong \bigoplus_{\sum_{i=1}^r a_i m_i = m \sum_{i=1}^r a_i c_i} \mathcal{O}_W(-m\pi^*(K_X + D) - (m_1E_1 + \dots m_rE_r))$$

Take $C' = \lceil C \sum_{i=1}^{r} \rceil$, then $\sum_{i=1}^{r} m_i \leq C'm$. Take a very ample line bundle H_0 such that $H_0 + E_i$ are very ample for all $1 \leq i \leq r$, and $H_0 + \pi^*(K_X + D)$ is ample, then for sufficiently divisible m, we have the inclusion $\mathcal{O}_W(-m\pi^*(K_X + D) - (m_1E_1 + \dots m_rE_r) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_W((m + \sum_{i=1}^{r} m_i)H_0) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_W((C' + 1)mH_0)$ for each direct summand in $\mu^*\mathcal{O}_F(mL)$. Therefore for $H = (C' + 1)H_0$, and sufficiently divisible m we have

$$\mu_*\mathcal{O}_F(mL) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_W(mH)^{\oplus N_m}$$

for some $N_m = \operatorname{rank}(\mathfrak{b}_{mA_{X,D}(F)}).$

Notice that F_0 is toric, therefore $lct(F_0, \Phi_{F_0}; |L_{F_0}|_{\mathbb{Q}})$ is computed by one of torus invariant divisors $\{x_i = 0\}$, so that

$$\operatorname{lct}(F_0, \Phi_{F_0}; |L_{F_0}|_{\mathbb{Q}}) = \frac{\min_{1 \le i \le r} a_i (1 - b_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^r a_i c_i} \ge a$$

for some constants a > 0 depending only on b_i, c_i and C. Set $D_W := (D_Y \vee 0 - \sum_{i=1}^r b_i E_i)|_W$. By Izumi's inequality we have $lct(W, D_W; |H|_{\mathbb{Q}}) > 0$. So we may assume $lct(W, D_W; |H|_{\mathbb{Q}}) \ge a$ by replacing a by a smaller positive number (notice that a does not depend on (W, D_w)).

Let 0 < t < a, and $\Phi' \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} L|_F$ be an effective divisor. We claim that $(F, \Phi + t\Phi')$ is lc. Suppose not, then we could find some divisorial valuation v_0 over F such that $A_{F,\Phi+t\Phi'}(v_0) < 0$ and the center of v_0 does not dominate W. Now v_0 restricts to a divisorial valuation w on W.

Consider the birational morphism $g: W_1 \to W$ such that the center of w is a divisor Q on W_1 , and let $F_1 = F \times_W W_1$, $\Phi_1 = g^*(\Phi - \mu^* D_W)$, and let P be the preimage of Q in F_1 . Notice that $F \to W$ is locally a trivial product $F_0 \times W$, by projection formula, we see

$$H^{0}(F_{1}, \mathcal{O}_{F_{1}}(g^{*}mL - kP)) = H^{0}(W_{1}, g^{*}\mu_{*}\mathcal{O}_{F}(mL) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{W_{1}}(-kQ)).$$

For sufficiently divisible m we have $\mu_* \mathcal{O}_F(mL) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_W(mH)^{\oplus N_m}$, so that $H^0(F_1, \mathcal{O}_{F_1}(g^*mL - kP))neq0 \implies H^0(W_1, \mathcal{O}_{W_1}(mg^*H - kQ)) \neq 0$ for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$. So $\operatorname{ord}_P(\Phi') \leq \sup_{H' \in |H||_{\mathbb{Q}}} \operatorname{ord}_Q(H')$. Notice $\sup_{H' \in |H||_{\mathbb{Q}}} \operatorname{ord}_Q(H') \leq \frac{1}{a} A_{W,D_W}(Q) = A_{F,\Phi}(P)$ (because $lct(W, D_W; |H|_{\mathbb{Q}}) \geq a$), so we have $t \operatorname{ord}_P(\Phi') < A_{F,\Phi}(P)$ (remember t < a). If we write $g^*(K_F + \Phi + t\Phi') = K_{F_1} + \Phi_1 + \lambda P + D$ where $P \notin \operatorname{Supp}(D)$ then the coefficient $\lambda \leq 1$. Notice the divisor P is vertical, so over a general fiber of $P \to Q$, we have $D|_{F_0} \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} tg^*\Phi'|_{F_0} \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} tL|_{F_0}$. So that $(P, (\Phi_1 + D)|_P)$ is lc along the general fibers of $P \to Q$. So by inversion of adjunction, we know $(F_1, \Phi_1 + \lambda P + Q)$ is also lc along the general fibers of $P \to Q$. So it is lc at the center of v_0 . This is a contradiction. So $(F, \Phi + t\Phi')$ is lc and so $\alpha_v \geq a$ as we want.

Lemma 6.2.6. Use the same notation as above. Let $K \subseteq \mathcal{DMR}(X, D + \Gamma)$ be a compact subset contained in the interior of some simplicial cone in QM(Y, E). Then there exists some constants b > 0 such that $\epsilon_v > b$ for all divisorial valuations $v \in K$.

Proof. Follow the notation from above, we set $\mathfrak{a}_m := \mu_* \mathcal{O}_Z(-mA_{X,D}(F)F)$. Remember $a_i/a_j < C$ for all $1 \leq i, j \leq r$, there exists some constant $M \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\frac{1}{A_{X,D}(F)} \operatorname{ord}_F(f) \geq \frac{1}{M} \operatorname{mult}_W(f)$ for all regular function f around the generic point of W. So that $\mathcal{I}_W^{M_m} \subseteq \mathfrak{a}_m$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$.

As in [LXZ21, Claim 4.15], we can find a sequence of ideals $\mathcal{O}_Y \supseteq \mathcal{I}_W \supseteq \cdots \supseteq \mathfrak{a}_m \supseteq \cdots \supseteq \mathcal{I}_W^{Mm}$ on Y such that the quotients of consecutive terms are all isomorphic to $\mathcal{O}_W(-n_1E_1 - \cdots - n_rE_r)$ for some $(n_1 \ldots, n_r) \in \mathbb{N}^r$ with $\sum_{i=1}^r n_i < Mm$.

Now we choose some sufficiently large and divisible integer $m_0, p > 0$ such that:

(1) the line bundles $\frac{p}{M}G$, $(\frac{p}{m}G - E_i)|_W$ are globally generated for all i,

(2) $H^i(W, \mathcal{O}_W(mpGn\sum_i E_i)) = 0$ for all $i, m \in \mathbb{N}_+$ and all $(n_1, \ldots, n_r) \in \mathbb{N}$ with $\sum_i n_i \leq Mm$,

(3) $\mathcal{O}_Y(mpG) \otimes \mathcal{I}_W^{Mm}$ is globally generated and $H^j(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y(mpG) \otimes \mathcal{I}_W^{Mm}) = 0$ for $m \ge m_0$, and $j \in \mathbb{N}_+$.

Let $\mathcal{I}_1 \supseteq \mathcal{I}_2$ be two consecutive terms in the above filtration, then we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_Y(mpG) \otimes \mathcal{I}_2 \to \mathcal{O}_Y(mpG) \otimes \mathcal{I}_1 \to \mathcal{O}_W(mpG|_W) \otimes (\mathcal{I}_1/\mathcal{I}_2) \to 0.$$

Because $(\mathcal{I}_1/\mathcal{I}_2) \cong \mathcal{O}_W(-\sum_i n_i E_i)$ for some $(n_1, \ldots, n_r) \in \mathbb{N}^r$ and $\sum_i n_i \leq Mm$, so we have $H^i(W, \mathcal{O}_W(mpG|_W) \otimes (\mathcal{I}_1/\mathcal{I}_2)) = 0$ for all i > 0. So $H^i(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y(mpG|_W) \otimes \mathcal{I}_2) = 0$ for i > 0 implies $H^i(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y(mpG|_W) \otimes \mathcal{I}_1) = 0$ for i > 0. Now we know $\mathcal{O}_Y(mpG) \otimes \mathcal{I}_2$ is globally generated.

So by induction, we know that $\mathcal{O}_Y(mpG) \otimes \mathfrak{a}_m$ is globally generated for all $m \ge m_0$. So that $p\mu^*G - A_{X,D}(F)F$ is nef. Therefore we know $\epsilon_v > 1/p$, and p does not depend on the valuation v. So we are done.

Now Theorem 6.2.2 follows from Lemma 6.2.4, Lemma 6.2.5 and Lemma 6.2.6. So we finished the proof of Theorem 6.1.3, and therefore the proof of Theorem 6.0.1.

Chapter 7

Applications

In this chapter we present some applications of the finite generation result.

Theorem 7.0.1 (Optimal Destabilization Conjecture). Let (X, D, ξ_0) be a log Fano cone singularity of dimension n. Assume that $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) < \frac{n+1}{n}$. Then $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) \in \mathbb{Q}$ and there exists a T-equivariant divisorial valuation ord_E over X that computes $\delta(X, D, \xi_0)$.

Proof. Let v be a T-equivariant valuation on X that computes $\delta(X, D, \xi_0)$. By Lemma 6.1.2, there exists some T-invariant complement Γ of (X, D) such that $v \in \mathcal{DMR}(X, D + \Gamma)$. Let $\Sigma \subseteq \mathcal{DMR}(X, D + \Gamma)$ be the smallest rational PL subspace containing v. By Theorem 6.1.4, we know the S-invariant function $w \mapsto S_{X,D}(w)$ on Σ is linear in a neighborhood of v. Since vcomputes $\delta(X, D, \xi_0)$, we know

$$A_{X,D}(v) = \delta(X, D, \xi_0) S_{X,D}(v).$$

Since the log discrepancy function $w \mapsto A_{X,D}(w)$ is linear in a neighborhood of $v \in \Sigma$ and by the definition of δ we know

$$A_{X,D}(w) \ge \delta(X, D, \xi_0) S_{X,D}(w)$$

for all $w \in \Sigma$, we know that

$$A_{X,D}(w) = \delta(X, D, \xi_0) S_{X,D}(w)$$

in a neighborhood $U \subseteq \Sigma$ of v. So we know any divisorial valuation $w \in U(\mathbb{Q})$ also computes $\delta(X, D)$. Since w is a divisorial lc place of a complement, it induces a weakly special test configuration of (X, D). By our calculation of β invariant in section 3, we could see that $\beta(X, D, \xi_0) \in \mathbb{Q}$. Notice that $A_{X,D}(w)$ is rational, so $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) \in \mathbb{Q}$.

Theorem 7.0.2 (Yau-Tian-Donaldson Conjecture). A log Fano cone singularity (X, D, ξ_0) is K-polystable if and only if it is uniformly K-stable. Furthermore, A log Fano cone singularity (X, D, ξ_0) admits a weak Ricci-flat Kähler potential if and only if it is K-polystable.

Proof. Suppose that (X, D, ξ_0) is K-polystable. Let $\mathbb{T} \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}(X, D)$ be a maximal torus (one could assume $T = \mathbb{T}$). We show that $\delta_{\mathbb{T}} > 1$. Suppose not, then we know $\delta_{\mathbb{T}} = 1$ and that $\delta(X, D, \xi_0)$ is computed by some \mathbb{T} -invariant quasi-monomial valuation v that is not of the form wt_{ξ} for any $\xi \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{G}_m, \mathbb{T}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$, and v is an lc place of a complement. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$ be sufficiently divisible and consider the \mathbb{T} -invariant linear system

$$\mathcal{M} := \{ s \in H^0(-m(K_X + D)) \mid v(s) \ge m \cdot A_{X,D}(v) \}.$$

Let $B_0 \in |\mathcal{M}|$ be a general member and let $B = \frac{1}{m}B_0$. Then $(X, D + \frac{1}{m}\mathcal{M})$ has the same set of lc places as (X, D + B) and so we know $v \in \mathcal{DMR}(X, D + B)$. Notice \mathbb{T} is a connected algebraic group, every lc place of the \mathbb{T} -invariant pair $(X, D + \frac{1}{m})$ is automatically \mathbb{T} -invariant. So we know $\mathcal{DMR}(X, D + B)$ consists only of \mathbb{T} -invariant valuations.

By the same argument as in the proof of Theorem 7.0.1, we see that $\delta(X, D, \xi_0)$ is also computed by some divisorial valuations $w \in \mathcal{DMR}(X, D + B)$ that are sufficiently close to v. Because wis T-invariant, we know w induces a T-equivariant special test configuration $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D})$ of (X, D)with $\operatorname{Fut}(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D}) = 0$. Notice $\mathbb{T} \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}(X, D)$ is a maximal torus and $w \neq \operatorname{wt}_{\xi}$ for any $\xi \in$ Hom(\mathbb{G}_m, \mathbb{T}) $\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$, we know that $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{D})$ is not a product test configuration. This contradicts with the assumption that (X, D, ξ_0) is K-polystable. Therefore we show $\delta(X, D, \xi_0) > 1$ and (X, D, ξ_0) is uniformly K-stable. When the ground field is \mathbb{C} , the existence of a weak Ricci-flat Kähler potential follows from this equivalence and [HL20].

Bibliography

- [AH06] K. Altmann and J. Hausen, Polyhedral divisors and algebraic torus actions, Math Ann. 224, Issue 3 (2006) 557-607.
- [AZ20] A. Hamid, Z. Zhuang. *K-stability of Fano varieties via admissible flags*.(2020) arXiv:2003.13788.
- [BBJ18] Robert Berman, Sebastian Boucksom, Mattias Jonsson, A variational approach to the Yau-Tian-Donaldson Conjecture, to appear in J. Amer. Math. Soc. (2018). arXiv:1509.04561.
- [BC11] S. Boucksom and H. Chen. Okounkov bodies of filtered linear series. Compositio Math. 147 (2011),1205-1229.
- [BCHM10] C. Birkar, P. Cascini, C, Hacon and J. Mckernan, Existence of minimal models for varieties of log general type. J. Amer. math. Soc. 23 (2010), no. 2, 405-468.
- [BdFFU15] S. Boucksom, T. de semicontinuity, C. Favre and S. Urbinati. Valuation spaces and multiplier ideals on singular varieties. Recent Advances in Algebraic Geometry. Volume in honor of Rob Lazarsfeld's 60th birthday, 29-51. London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Series. 2015.
- [BFJ14] S. Boucksom, C. Favre and M. Jonsson. A refinement of Izumi's theorem. Valuation Theory in interaction, EMS Ser.Congr,Rep., Eur.Math.Soc., Zurich, 2014 (2017).
- [BJ17] H. Blum, M. Jonsson. Thresholds, valuations, and K-stability. arXiv:1706.04548 (2017).

- [BLX19] H. Blum, Y. Liu and C. Xu. Openness of K-semistability for Fano varieties. Duke Math. J. (2019), no. 609-656.
- [BLXZ21] H. Blum, Y. Liu, C. Xu, Z. Zhuang. The existence of the Kähler-Ricci soliton degeneration. arXiv:2103.15278
- [CS08] I. Cheltsov, C. Shramov. Log-canonical thresholds for nonsingular Fano threefilds. Russian Math. Surveys 63 (2008), 945-950.
- [CS19] T. Collins, G. Székelyhidi. Sasaki-Einstein metrics and K-stability. Geom. Topol. 23 (2019), no. 3, 1339–1413.
- [ELS03] L. Ein, R. Lazarsfeld, and Karen E. Smith. Uniform approximation of Abhyankar valuations ideals in smooth function fields. Amer. J. Math .125 (2003), no. 2, 409-440.
- [Fuj19] K. Fujita. A valuative criterion for uniform K-stability of Q-Fano varieties. J. Reine Angew. Math. 751 (2019), 309-338.
- [HL20] J. Han, C. Li On the Yau-Tian-Donaldson conjecture for g-weighted Kähler-Ricci soliton equations. accepted by Comm. Pure Appl. Math., arXiv:2006.00903.
- [HMX14] C. Hacon, J. Mckernan and C. Xu. ACC for log canonical thresholds. Ann. of Math. (2) 180 (2014), no. 2 ,523-571.
- [Jia20] C .Jiang. Boundedness of Q-Fano varieties with degrees and aloha-invariants bounded from below. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) 53 (2020) no. 5, 1235-1250.
- [Li17] C .Li. K-semistability is equivariant volume minimization. Duke Math. J. 166 (2017), no. 16, 3147-3218.
- [Li18] C. Li. Minimizing normalized volumes of valuations. Math. Z. 289 (2018), no. 1-2, 491–513.

- [Li21] C.Li. Notes on Weighted Kähler-Ricci Solitons and Application to Ricci-flat Kähler Cone Metrics. (2021) arXiv: 2107.02088v1
- [Liu18] Y. Liu. The volume of singular Kähler-Einstein Fano varieties. Compos. Math. 154 (2018), no. 6, 1131–1158.
- [LTW19] Chi Li, Gang Tian, Feng Wang, The uniform version of Yau-Tian-Donaldson conjecture for singular Fano varieties (2019). arXiv:1903.01215.
- [LXZ21] Y. Liu, C. Xu, Z. Zhuang. Finite generations for valuations computing stability thresholds and applications to K-stability. (2021) arXiv: 2102.09405v2
- [LX20] C. Li, C. Xu. Stability of valuations and Kollár components. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 22 (2020), no. 8, 2573–2627.
- [LX18] C. Li, C. Xu. Stability of Valuations: Higher Rational Rank. Peking Math. J. 1 (2018), no. 1, 1-79.
- [Wu21] Yueqiao Wu. Volume and Monge-Ampére energy on polarized affine varieties. (2021) arXiv: 2106.13395v2
- [Xu20] C. Xu. A minimizing valuation is quasi-monomial. Ann. of Math. (2) 191 (2020), no. 3, 1003–1030.
- [XZ20] C. Xu; Z. Zhuang. Uniqueness of the minimizer of the normalized volume function. (2020) arXiv: 2005.08303v1